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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGN
AGM

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of China Telecom Corporation Limited (the 
“Company”) for the year 2015 will be held at 11:00 a.m. on 25 May 2016 at Ballrooms B & C, Level 5, Island 
Shangri-La, Pacific Place, Supreme Court Road, Central, Hong Kong for the purpose of considering and, if 
thought fit, passing the following resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1. THAT the consolidated financial statements of the Company, the report of the Board of Directors, the 
report of the Supervisory Committee and the report of the international auditor for the year ended 31 
December 2015 be considered and approved, and the Board of Directors be authorised to prepare the 
budget of the Company for the year 2016.

2. THAT the profit distribution proposal and the declaration and payment of a final dividend for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 be considered and approved.

3. THAT the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public 
Accountants LLP as the international auditor and domestic auditor of the Company respectively for the 
year ending on 31 December 2016 be considered and approved, and the Board be authorised to fix the 
remuneration of the auditors.

and to consider and approve other businesses (if any).

And as special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following as special resolutions:

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

4. To consider and approve, by way of special resolutions, each of the following resolutions in relation to 
the granting of a general mandate to the Board of the Company to issue debentures:

4.1 THAT the granting of a general mandate to the Board to issue debentures denominated in local or 
foreign currencies, in one or more tranches in the PRC and overseas, including but not limited to, 
super short-term commercial papers, short-term commercial papers, medium term notes, perpetual 
bonds, company bonds, convertible bonds, private placement notes, asset securitisation products 
and asset-backed notes (the “Debentures”), from the date of this meeting until the date on which 
the annual general meeting of the Company for the year 2016 is held, with a maximum aggregate 
outstanding repayment amount of up to RMB90 billion be and is hereby approved.

4.2 THAT the Board or any two or more directors of the Company (the “Directors”) duly authorised by 
the Board, taking into account the specific needs of the Company and market conditions, be and 
are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to:

(a) determine the specific terms and conditions of, and other matters relating to, the issue of 
debentures, including but not limited to, the determination of the type, amount, interest rate, 
term, rating, security, any repurchase or redemption provisions, any placing arrangements 
to shareholders, any options to adjust the nominal interest rates, the use of proceeds, the 
application of the quota of unissued company bonds to the issuance of other Debentures, as 
well as matters including securing approvals, engaging professional advisors, disseminating 
relevant application documents to the regulatory authorities, obtaining approvals from the 
regulatory authorities, executing all requisite legal documentation relating to the issue as 
requested by the regulatory authorities and making relevant disclosure;

(b) do all such acts which are necessary and incidental to the issue of debentures (including, but 
not limited to, the securing of approvals, the determination of underwriting arrangements, 
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preparation and dissemination of relevant application documents to the regulatory authorities, 
and the securing of approvals from the regulatory authorities);

(c) take all such steps which are necessary for the purposes of executing the issue of debentures 
(including, but not limited to, the execution of all requisite documentation and the disclosure 
of relevant information in accordance with applicable laws) and to the extent that any of the 
aforementioned acts and steps that have already been undertaken by the Board or the duly 
authorised Directors in connection with the issue of debentures, be and are hereby approved, 
confirmed and ratified; and

(d) with respect to the Company’s issue of the aforementioned debentures denominated in 
local or foreign currencies with an aggregate amount of RMB90 billion, to do the centralised 
registration of super short-term commercial papers, short-term commercial papers, medium 
term notes and perpetual bonds in accordance with the registration rules published by National 
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors.

5. To consider and approve, by way of special resolutions, each of the following resolutions in relation to 
the proposed issue of company bonds:

5.1 THAT with respect to the Company’s issue of the aforementioned debentures denominated in 
local or foreign currencies with an aggregate amount of RMB90 billion, within which the issue of 
company bonds in the PRC in one or more tranches not exceeding RMB30 billion be and is hereby 
approved with:

(a) Size of issue: Up to RMB30 billion.

(b) Placing to shareholders: The company bonds will not be issued to existing shareholders on a 
preferred basis by way of placing.

(c) Term: The company bonds will have a term not exceeding 10 years and may have one fixed 
term, or a mix of different terms, which will be determined in accordance with the market 
conditions and the Company’s capital requirements.

(d) Use of proceeds: The company bonds will be issued for purposes such as replenishing the 
general working capital of the Company.

(e) Effective period: The resolution will be effective from the date on which this resolution is 
passed until the date on which the annual general meeting of the Company for the year 2016 is 
held.

5.2 THAT the Board or any two or more Directors of the Company duly authorised by the Board be and 
are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to:

(a) determine the type, specific terms and conditions of, and other matters relating to, the issue 
(including but not limited to, the determination of the type, amount, interest rate, term, 
rating, security, whether there will be repurchase or redemption provisions, whether there 
will be an option to adjust the nominal interest rate, the application of the quota of unissued 
company bonds to the issuance of other Debentures, specific arrangements relating to the 
use of proceeds within the scope approved by the shareholders in this meeting and all matters 
relating to the issue);

(b) do all such acts which are necessary and incidental to the issue (including, but not limited to, 
the securing of approvals, engaging professional advisors, the determination of underwriting 
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arrangements, preparation and dissemination of relevant application documents to the 
regulatory authorities, and the securing of approvals from the regulatory authorities);

(c) take all such steps which are necessary for the purposes of executing the issue (including, 
but not limited to, the execution of all requisite documentation and the disclosure of relevant 
information in accordance with applicable laws), and to the extent that any of the above acts 
and steps that have already been undertaken by the Board or the Directors in connection with 
the issue, be and are hereby approved, confirmed and ratified;

(d) if there are changes in the regulatory policies or market conditions, adjust the specific proposal 
relating to the issue and related matters in accordance with the opinion of the regulatory 
authorities; and

(e) after completion of the issue, determine and approve matters relating to the listing of the 
relevant debentures.

6. THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (c) below, the exercise by the Board during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter 
defined) of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares of the 
Company and to make or grant offers, agreements and options which might require the exercise of 
such powers be hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) shall authorise the Board during the Relevant Period to make or grant 
offers, agreements and options which might require the exercise of such powers after the end of 
the Relevant Period;

(c) the amount of additional domestic shares or overseas-listed foreign-invested shares (“H Shares”) 
(as the case may be) allotted, issued and dealt with or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to 
be allotted, issued and dealt with either separately or concurrently by the Board pursuant to the 
approval in paragraph (a), otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined) or (ii) 
any scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole 
or part of a dividend on shares in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, shall 
not exceed 20% of each of the Company’s existing domestic shares and H Shares (as the case may 
be) in issue at the date of passing this special resolution; and

(d) for the purpose of this special resolution numbered 6:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this special resolution numbered 6 until the 
earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the 12 month-period following the passing of these special resolutions; and

(iii) the date of revocation or variation of the authority given to the Board under these special 
resolutions by a special resolution of the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares open for a period fixed by the Board to holders of shares on 
the register of members on a fixed record date in proportion to their holdings of such shares (subject 
to such exclusion or other arrangements as the Board may deem necessary or expedient in relation 
to fractional entitlements or having regard to any legal or practical restrictions or obligations under 
the laws of, or the requirement of, any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in any 
territory applicable to the Company) and an offer, allotment or issue of shares by way of rights shall 
be construed accordingly.
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7. THAT the Board be authorised to increase the registered capital of the Company to reflect the issue of 
shares in the Company authorised under special resolution numbered 6, and to make such appropriate 
and necessary amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company as they think fit to reflect 
such increases in the registered capital of the Company and to take any other action and complete any 
formality required to effect such increase in the registered capital of the Company.

By Order of the Board
China Telecom Corporation Limited

Chu Ka Yee
Company Secretary

Beijing, China
8 April 2016

Notes:

(1) The H Share Register of Members of the Company will be closed, for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement to 
attend the annual general meeting, from 25 April 2016 to 25 May 2016 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of 
shares will be registered. In order to attend the annual general meeting, all share transfers, accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates, must be lodged for registration with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712–16, 17th 
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 22 April 2016. Holders 
of H Shares who are registered with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited on 25 May 2016 are entitled to attend 
the annual general meeting.

(2) The Board of Directors of the Company has recommended a final dividend of HK$0.095 per share (pre-tax) for the year ended 
31 December 2015 and, if such proposed dividend distribution set out in resolution numbered 2 is approved by the shareholders, 
the final dividend will be distributed to those shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on 
Monday, 6 June 2016. The Register of Members will be closed from Wednesday, 1 June 2016 to Monday, 6 June 2016 (both days 
inclusive). In order to be entitled to the final dividend, holders of H Shares who have not registered the transfer documents are 
required to deposit the transfer documents together with the relevant share certificates at Computershare Hong Kong Investor 
Services Limited, at Shops 1712–16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong at or before 4:30 
p.m. on Tuesday, 31 May 2016.

(3) Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote 
on his behalf at the annual general meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder. Each shareholder who wishes to appoint one or 
more proxies should read through the 2015 annual report.

(4) To be valid, the form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other authorisation document (if any) signed by the 
authorised person or notarially certified power of attorney must be delivered to the General Affairs Office of the Company (for 
holders of domestic shares) and to the Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (for holders of H Shares) not less than 
24 hours before the designated time for the holding of the annual general meeting. The General Affairs Office of the Company is 
located at 31 Jinrong Street, Xicheng District, Beijing 100033, PRC. (Telephone: (8610) 6642 8166). Computershare Hong Kong 
Investor Services Limited is located at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Completion 
and return of a form of proxy will not preclude a shareholder from attending in person and voting at the annual general meeting 
if he so wishes.

(5) Shareholders intending to attend the annual general meeting shall return the attendance slip via hand delivery, mail or fax to the 
General Affairs Office of the Company (for holders of domestic shares) and to the Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services 
Limited (for holders of H Shares) on or before 4 May 2016.

(6) Shareholders attending the annual general meeting in person or by proxy shall present their proof of identity. If the attending 
shareholder is a corporation, its legal representative or person authorised by the board of directors or other decision making 
authority shall present a copy of the relevant resolution of the board of directors or other decision making authority in order to 
attend the annual general meeting.

(7) All resolutions proposed at the annual general meeting will be voted by poll.

(8) The annual general meeting is expected to last for half a day and shareholders (in person or by proxy) attending the annual 
general meeting shall be responsible for their own transport and accommodation expenses.

(9) Shareholders are advised to call the Company’s hotline at (852) 2877 9777 or browse the Company’s website 
(www.chinatelecom-h.com) for the latest arrangements of the annual general meeting in the event that a Typhoon Signal 
No. 8 (or above) or a Black Rainstorm Warning Signal is hoisted on the day of the annual general meeting.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT I A

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA TELECOM CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in The People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Telecom Corporation Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 122 to 193, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit 
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and of its performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
23 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
at 31 December 2015 (Amounts in millions)

C
S F

    
31 December

2015
31 December

2014
Note RMB RMB    

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 5 373,981 372,876
Construction in progress 6 69,103 53,181
Lease prepayments 23,609 24,410
Goodwill 7 29,920 29,917
Intangible assets 8 10,739 8,984
Interests in associates 10 34,473 4,106
Investments 11 1,624 972
Deferred tax assets 12 4,655 3,232
Other assets 20 3,349 4,053    

Total non-current assets 551,453 501,731
Current assets

Inventories 13 6,281 4,225
Income tax recoverable 105 1,360
Accounts receivable, net 14 21,105 21,562
Prepayments and other current assets 15 16,229 10,581
Short-term bank deposits 2,519 1,379
Cash and cash equivalents 16 31,869 20,436    

Total current assets 78,108 59,543    
Total assets 629,561 561,274    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Short-term debt 17 51,636 43,976
Current portion of long-term debt 17 84 82
Accounts payable 18 118,055 88,458
Accrued expenses and other payables 19 82,934 72,442
Income tax payable 2,154 307
Current portion of finance lease obligations 38 –
Current portion of deferred revenues 20 1,028 1,060    

Total current liabilities 255,929 206,325    
Net current liabilities (177,821) (146,782)    
Total assets less current liabilities 373,632 354,949    

The notes on pages 128 to 193 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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S FCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 31 December 2015 (Amounts in millions)

    
31 December

2015
31 December

2014
Note RMB RMB    

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt and payable 17 64,830 62,494
Finance lease obligations 81 –
Deferred revenues 20 1,454 798
Deferred tax liabilities 12 2,061 1,125
Other non-current liabilities 455 424    

Total non-current liabilities 68,881 64,841    
Total liabilities 324,810 271,166    

Equity
Share capital 21 80,932 80,932
Reserves 22 222,852 208,251    
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the 

Company 303,784 289,183
Non-controlling interests 967 925    

Total equity 304,751 290,108    
Total liabilities and equity 629,561 561,274    

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2016.

Yang Jie Ke Ruiwen
Executive Director, President and

Chief Operating Officer
Executive Director and

Executive Vice President

The notes on pages 128 to 193 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Amounts in millions, except per share data)

CS

CI

    
2015 2014

Note RMB RMB    
Operating revenues 23 331,202 324,394

Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation (67,664) (66,345)
Network operations and support 24 (81,240) (68,651)
Selling, general and administrative (54,472) (62,719)
Personnel expenses 25 (52,541) (50,653)
Other operating expenses 26 (48,843) (47,518)    

Total operating expenses 27 (304,760) (295,886)    
Operating profit 26,442 28,508
Gain from Tower Assets Disposal 2 5,214 –
Net finance costs 28 (4,273) (5,291)
Investment income 8 6
Share of (losses)/profits of associates (698) 34    
Profit before taxation 26,693 23,257
Income tax 29 (6,551) (5,498)    
Profit for the year 20,142 17,759    
Other comprehensive income for the year

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:
Change in fair value of available-for-sale equity securities 652 (54)
Deferred tax on change in fair value of available-for-sale 

equity securities (163) 14
Exchange difference on translation of financial 

statements of subsidiaries outside mainland China 129 3
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 3 (3)    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 621 (40)    
Total comprehensive income for the year 20,763 17,719    
Profit attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 20,054 17,680
Non-controlling interests 88 79    

Profit for the year 20,142 17,759    
Total comprehensive income attributable to

Equity holders of the Company 20,675 17,640
Non-controlling interests 88 79    

Total comprehensive income for the year 20,763 17,719    
Basic earnings per share 34 0.25 0.22    
Number of shares (in millions) 34 80,932 80,932    

The notes on pages 128 to 193 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Amounts in millions)

CS

CE

            
Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Share
capital

Capital
reserve

Share
premium

Statutory
reserves

Other
reserves

Exchange
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
Note RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB            

Balance as at 1 January 2014 80,932 17,064 10,746 67,392 427 (944) 102,124 277,741 923 278,664            
Profit for the year – – – – – – 17,680 17,680 79 17,759

Other comprehensive income – – – – (43) 3 – (40) – (40)            
Total comprehensive income – – – – (43) 3 17,680 17,640 79 17,719

Distribution to non-controlling 

interests – – – – – – – – (77) (77)

Dividends 33 – – – – – – (6,198) (6,198) – (6,198)

Appropriations 22 – – – 1,680 – – (1,680) – – –            
Balance as at 31 December 2014 80,932 17,064 10,746 69,072 384 (941) 111,926 289,183 925 290,108            
Profit for the year – – – – – – 20,054 20,054 88 20,142
Other comprehensive income – – – – 492 129 – 621 – 621            
Total comprehensive income – – – – 492 129 20,054 20,675 88 20,763
Acquisition of non-controlling 

interests – (1) – – – – – (1) (6) (7)
Contribution from non-controlling 

interests – 87 – – – – – 87 40 127
Distribution to non-controlling 

interests – – – – – – – – (80) (80)
Dividends 33 – – – – – – (6,160) (6,160) – (6,160)
Appropriations 22 – – – 1,901 – – (1,901) – – –            
Balance as at 31 December 2015 80,932 17,150 10,746 70,973 876 (812) 123,919 303,784 967 304,751            

The notes on pages 128 to 193 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Amounts in millions)

CS

CF

    
2015 2014

Note RMB RMB    
Net cash from operating activities (a) 108,750 96,405    
Cash flows used in investing activities

Capital expenditure (101,898) (80,273)
Lease prepayments (124) (184)
Purchase of investments (b) (10) (2,990)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 755 710
Proceeds from disposal of lease prepayments 58 121
Proceeds from disposal of Investments 2 –
Purchase of short-term bank deposits (3,764) (2,566)
Maturity of short-term bank deposits 2,731 3,474    

Net cash used in investing activities (102,250) (81,708)    
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

Principal element of finance lease payments (14) (1)
Proceeds from bank and other loans 67,875 53,022
Repayment of bank and other loans (56,862) (56,819)
Payment of dividends (6,160) (6,198)
Payment for the acquisition of non-controlling interests (7) –
Contribution from non-controlling interests 127 –
Payment of the acquisition price of the Seventh Acquisition (c) – (278)
Net cash distributions to non-controlling interests (150) (53)    

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 4,809 (10,327)    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,309 4,370
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20,436 16,070
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate 124 (4)    
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 31,869 20,436    

The notes on pages 128 to 193 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CS

CF
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Amounts in millions)

(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash from operating 
activities
   

2015 2014
RMB RMB   

Profit before taxation 26,693 23,257
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 67,664 66,345
Impairment losses for doubtful debts 2,231 2,084
Impairment losses for long-lived assets 51 –
Write down of inventories 147 151
Investment income (8) (6)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates 698 (34)
Interest income (375) (304)
Interest expense 4,573 5,650
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 75 (55)
Net loss on retirement and disposal of long-lived assets 1,573 2,287
Gain from Tower Assets Disposal (5,214) –   

Operating profit before changes in working capital 98,108 99,375
Increase in accounts receivable (1,778) (3,594)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (2,199) 2,280
Increase in prepayments and other current assets (5,854) (2,359)
Increase in other assets (87) (2)
Increase in accounts payable 22,156 6,473
Increase in accrued expenses and other payables 7,119 6,571
Decrease in deferred revenues (417) (573)   

Cash generated from operations 117,048 108,171
Interest received 375 305
Interest paid (4,601) (5,693)
Investment income received 27 29
Income tax paid (4,099) (6,407)   

Net cash from operating activities 108,750 96,405   

(b) Major non-cash transaction: The Company completed the disposal of certain telecommunications 
towers and related assets and injecting cash to China Tower Corporation limited (“China Tower”) in 
return for new shares issued by China Tower on 31 October 2015. The cash injection was not paid 
by 31 December 2015, therefore the transaction has no impact on the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2015.

(c) The Seventh Acquisition represents the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in China Telecom 
(Europe) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of China Telecommunications Corporation, by China 
Telecom Global Limited (“CT Global”, a subsidiary of the Company) from China Telecommunications 
Corporation on 31 December 2013.

The notes on pages 128 to 193 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

N FS

1. Principal Activities, Organisation and Basis of Presentation

Principal activities
China Telecom Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter, collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) offers a comprehensive range of wireline and mobile telecommunications 
services including wireline voice, mobile voice, Internet, telecommunication network resource services 
and lease of network equipment, value-added services, integrated information application services 
and other related services. The Group provides wireline telecommunications services and related 
services in Beijing Municipality, Shanghai Municipality, Guangdong Province, Jiangsu Province, 
Zhejiang Province, Anhui Province, Fujian Province, Jiangxi Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous 
Region, Chongqing Municipality, Sichuan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Hainan 
Province, Guizhou Province, Yunnan Province, Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, 
Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region and Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region of the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”). Following the acquisition of Code Division Multiple Access (“CDMA”) mobile 
telecommunications business in October 2008, the Group also provides mobile telecommunications 
and related services in the mainland China and Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) 
of the PRC. The Group also provides international telecommunications services, including lease of 
network equipment, International Internet access and transit, and Internet data centre service in 
certain countries of the Asia Pacific, Europe, Africa, South America and North America regions. The 
operations of the Group in the mainland China are subject to the supervision and regulation by the 
PRC government.

Organisation
As part of the reorganisation (the “Restructuring”) of China Telecommunications Corporation, the 
Company was incorporated in the PRC on 10 September 2002. In connection with the Restructuring, 
China Telecommunications Corporation transferred to the Company the wireline telecommunications 
business and related operations in Shanghai Municipality, Guangdong Province, Jiangsu Province 
and Zhejiang Province together with the related assets and liabilities (the “Predecessor Operations”) 
in consideration for 68,317 million ordinary domestic shares of the Company. The shares issued 
to China Telecommunications Corporation have a par value of RMB1.00 each and represented the 
entire registered and issued share capital of the Company at that date.

On 31 December 2003, the Company acquired the entire equity interests in Anhui Telecom 
Company Limited, Fujian Telecom Company Limited, Jiangxi Telecom Company Limited, Guangxi 
Telecom Company Limited, Chongqing Telecom Company Limited and Sichuan Telecom Company 
Limited (collectively the “First Acquired Group”) and certain network management and research 
and development facilities from China Telecommunications Corporation for a total purchase price of 
RMB46,000 million (hereinafter, referred to as the “First Acquisition”).

On 30 June 2004, the Company acquired the entire equity interests in Hubei Telecom Company 
Limited, Hunan Telecom Company Limited, Hainan Telecom Company Limited, Guizhou Telecom 
Company Limited, Yunnan Telecom Company Limited, Shaanxi Telecom Company Limited, Gansu 
Telecom Company Limited, Qinghai Telecom Company Limited, Ningxia Telecom Company Limited 
and Xinjiang Telecom Company Limited (collectively the “Second Acquired Group”) from China 
Telecommunications Corporation for a total purchase price of RMB27,800 million (hereinafter, 
referred to as the “Second Acquisition”).
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1. Principal Activities, Organisation and Basis of Presentation (continued)

Organisation (continued)
On 30 June 2007, the Company acquired the entire equity interests in China Telecom System 
Integration Co., Ltd. (“CTSI”), CT Global and China Telecom (Americas) Corporation (“CT Americas”) 
(collectively the “Third Acquired Group”) from China Telecommunications Corporation for a total 
purchase price of RMB1,408 million (hereinafter, referred to as the “Third Acquisition”).

On 30 June 2008, the Company acquired the entire equity interest in China Telecom Group Beijing 
Corporation (“Beijing Telecom” or the “Fourth Acquired Company”) from China Telecommunications 
Corporation for a total purchase price of RMB5,557 million (hereinafter, referred to as the “Fourth 
Acquisition”).

On 1 August 2011 and 1 December 2011, the subsidiaries of the Company, E-surfing Pay Co., 
Ltd and E-surfing Media Co., Ltd., acquired the e-commerce business and video media business 
(collectively the “Fifth Acquired Group”) from China Telecommunications Corporation and its 
subsidiaries for a total purchase price of RMB61 million (hereinafter, referred to as the “Fifth 
Acquisition”). The Company disposed the equity interest in E-surfing Media Co., Ltd. to China 
Telecommunications Corporation in 2013.

On 30 April 2012, the Company acquired the digital trunking business (the “Sixth Acquired 
Business”) from Besttone Holding Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of China Telecommunications Corporation, 
at a purchase price of RMB48 million (hereinafter, referred to as the “Sixth Acquisition”).

On 31 December 2013, the subsidiary of the Company, CT Global acquired 100% equity interest 
in China Telecom (Europe) Limited (“CT Europe” or the “Seventh Acquired Company”), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of China Telecommunications Corporation, from China Telecommunications 
Corporation for a total purchase price of RMB278 million (hereinafter, referred to as the “Seventh 
Acquisition”), and was paid by 30 June 2014.

Hereinafter, the First Acquired Group, the Second Acquired Group, the Third Acquired Group, the 
Fourth Acquired Company, the Fifth Acquired Group, the Sixth Acquired Business and the Seventh 
Acquired Company are collectively referred to as the “Acquired Groups”.

Basis of presentation
Since the Group and the Acquired Groups are under common control of China Telecommunications 
Corporation, the Group’s acquisitions of the Acquired Groups have been accounted for as a 
combination of entities under common control in a manner similar to a pooling-of-interests. 
Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of these entities have been accounted for at historical amounts 
and the consolidated financial statements of the Group prior to the acquisitions are combined 
with the financial statements of the Acquired Groups. The considerations for the acquisition of 
the Acquired Groups are accounted for as an equity transaction in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.
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1. Principal Activities, Organisation and Basis of Presentation (continued)

Merger with subsidiaries
Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders at an extraordinary general 
meeting held on 25 February 2008, the Company entered into merger agreements with each of the 
following subsidiaries: Shanghai Telecom Company Limited, Guangdong Telecom Company Limited, 
Jiangsu Telecom Company Limited, Zhejiang Telecom Company Limited, Anhui Telecom Company 
Limited, Fujian Telecom Company Limited, Jiangxi Telecom Company Limited, Guangxi Telecom 
Company Limited, Chongqing Telecom Company Limited, Sichuan Telecom Company Limited, Hubei 
Telecom Company Limited, Hunan Telecom Company Limited, Hainan Telecom Company Limited, 
Guizhou Telecom Company Limited, Yunnan Telecom Company Limited, Shaanxi Telecom Company 
Limited, Gansu Telecom Company Limited, Qinghai Telecom Company Limited, Ningxia Telecom 
Company Limited and Xinjiang Telecom Company Limited. In addition, the Company entered into 
merger agreements with Beijing Telecom on 1 July 2008. Pursuant to these merger agreements, the 
Company merged with these subsidiaries and the assets, liabilities and business operations of these 
subsidiaries were transferred to the Company’s branches in the respective regions.

2. Disposal of Certain Telecommunications Towers and Related Assets

On 11 July 2014, the Company, China United Network Communications Corporation Limited 
(“CUCL”) and China Mobile Communication Company Limited entered into an agreement to establish 
China Tower. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company, CUCL and China Mobile Communication 
Company Limited each subscribed for 2.99 billion shares, 3.01 billion shares and 4.00 billion 
shares of the China Tower, respectively in cash at a par value of RMB1.00 per share, representing 
a shareholding percentage of 29.9%, 30.1% and 40.0%, respectively. The China Tower primarily 
engages in the construction, maintenance and operation of telecommunications towers, and also 
engages in the construction, maintenance and operation of ancillary facilities such as control rooms, 
power supply systems and air conditioning systems of base stations, etc. and indoor distribution 
systems as well as the provision of outsourcing maintenance services for base station equipment.

On 14 October 2015, the Company, China Mobile Communication Company Limited and related 
subsidiaries (together, “China Mobile”), CUCL and Unicom New Horizon Telecommunications 
Company Limited (together, “China Unicom”), China Reform Holding Company Limited (“CRHC”) 
and China Tower entered into a transfer agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”). Pursuant to the 
Transfer Agreement, the Company sold certain telecommunications towers and related assets 
(“Tower Assets”)  to China Tower (hereinafter referred to as “Tower Assets Disposal”) and injected 
cash to China Tower in return for new shares (the “Consideration Shares”) issued by China Tower. 
China Mobile and China Unicom also sold certain telecommunications towers and related assets to 
China Tower in return for new shares issued by China Tower and for cash; and CRHC made cash 
subscription for new shares issued by China Tower.
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2. Disposal of Certain Telecommunications Towers and Related Assets 
(continued)

The Tower Assets Disposal was completed on 31 October 2015 (“Completion Date”). The final 
consideration amount of the Tower Assets Disposal was determined as RMB30.131 billion. China 
Tower issued 33.097 billion Consideration Shares to the Company at an issue price of RMB1.00 per 
share under the Transfer Agreement in return for the Tower Assets and RMB2.966 billion cash (“Cash 
Consideration”) from the Company. The Cash Consideration was paid in February 2016.

Upon the issuance of the Consideration Shares by China Tower, the Company, China Unicom, China 
Mobile and CRHC hold 27.9%, 28.1%, 38.0% and 6.0% of the share capital of China Tower, 
respectively.

The Tower Assets Disposal was recognised as an assets disposal. The Company realised a gain (subject 
to deduction of relevant expenses and taxes) from the Tower Assets Disposal, which was calculated 
based on the surplus of the final consideration amount for the Tower Assets Disposal over the 
book value of the Tower Assets as at the Completion Date as set out below. As the Company held 
27.9% of the share capital of China Tower, only 72.1% of the aforesaid gain was recognised at the 
Completion Date and the remaining 27.9% of the aforesaid gain is deferred over the remaining useful 
life of the Tower Assets.

   
Note RMB millions   

Final consideration amount of the Tower Assets Disposal 30,131
Less: Book value of the Tower Assets:
Property, plant and equipment, net 5 18,365
Construction in progress 6 2,959
Net other assets and liabilities 1,403   
Total book value of the Tower Assets 22,727
Less: Relevant expenses and taxes 173
Total gain from the Tower Assets Disposal 7,231   
Less: Deferred gain 2,017
Gain recognised at the Completion Date of the Tower Assets Disposal 5,214   

3. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). The consolidated financial statements also comply with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure 
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)
The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap 622) regarding the 
preparation of accounts and audit report became effective for the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015. The disclosure requirements set out in the Rules Governing Listing 
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) regarding annual 
accounts have been amended with reference to the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. 
Accordingly, the presentation and disclosure of information in the consolidated financial 
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 have been changed to comply with 
these new requirements. Comparative information in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2014 are presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements based on 
the new requirements. Information previously required to be disclosed under the predecessor 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance or Listing Rules but not under the new Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance or amended Listing Rules are not disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by 
the revaluation of certain available-for-sale equity securities at fair value (Note 3(l)).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that management 
believes are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in 
Note 42.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and the 
Group’s interests in associates.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. When fulfilling the following conditions, 
the Company has control over an entity: (a) has power over the investee, (b) has exposure, or 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) has the ability to use 
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)
When assessing whether the Company has power over that entity, only substantive rights (held 
by the Company and other parties) are considered.

The financial results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases, and the profit attributable 
to non-controlling interests is separately presented on the face of the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as an allocation of the profit or loss for the year between the 
non-controlling interests and the equity holders of the Company. Non-controlling interests 
represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company. 
For each business combination, the Group measures the non-controlling interests at the 
proportionate share, of the acquisition date, of fair value of the subsidiary’s net identifiable 
assets. Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position within equity and consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, separately from the equity of the Company’s equity holders. Changes in 
the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but 
no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised. When the Group loses 
control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, 
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that 
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the 
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group exercises significant 
influence, but not control, over its management. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or 
joint control over those policies.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under 
the equity method and is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share 
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s net identifiable assets over the cost of the 
investment (if any) after reassessment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the Group’s 
equity share of the post-acquisition changes in the associate’s net assets and any impairment 
loss relating to the investment. When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an 
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting 
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee 
at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions and unrealised gains arising from 
intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising from 
transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent 
that there is no evidence of impairment.
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(c) Foreign currencies
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”). 
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries in mainland China is RMB. The 
functional currency of the Group’s foreign operations is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the foreign operations operate. Transactions denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currency during the year are translated into the functional currency at 
the applicable rates of exchange prevailing on the transaction dates. Foreign currency monetary 
assets and liabilities are translated into the functional currency using the applicable exchange 
rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences, other than those 
capitalised as construction in progress (Note 3(i)), are recognised as income or expense in profit 
or loss. For the periods presented, no exchange differences were capitalised.

When preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements, the results of operations of the 
Group’s foreign operations are translated into RMB at average rate prevailing during the year. 
Assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into RMB at the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the 
exchange reserve.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and time deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less when purchased. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which 
approximates fair value. None of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents is restricted as to 
withdrawal.

(e) Accounts and other receivables
Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for doubtful debts (Note 
3(n)) unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost 
less allowance for doubtful debts.

(f) Inventories
Inventories consist of materials and supplies used in maintaining the telecommunications 
network and goods for resale. Inventories are valued at cost using the specific identification 
method or the weighted average cost method, less a provision for obsolescence.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion, 
the estimated costs to make the sale and the related tax expenses.
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(g) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost, less subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (Note 3(n)). The cost of an asset comprises its purchase 
price, any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition and location 
for its intended use and the cost of borrowed funds used during the periods of construction. 
Expenditure incurred after the asset has been put into operation, including cost of replacing 
part of such an item, is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the item of property, plant and equipment and the cost can be measured reliably. 
All other expenditure is expensed as it is incurred.

Assets acquired under leasing agreements which effectively transfer substantially all the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership from the lessor to the lessee are classified as assets under 
finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are initially recorded at amounts equivalent to 
the lower of the fair value of the leased assets at the inception of the lease or the present value 
of the minimum lease payments (computed using the rate of interest implicit in the lease). 
The net present value of the future minimum lease payments is recorded correspondingly as a 
finance lease obligation. Assets held under finance leases are amortised over their estimated 
useful lives on a straight-line basis. As at 31 December 2015, no asset was held by the Group 
under finance leases (2014: RMB18 million).

Gains or losses arising from retirement or disposal of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the respective asset and are recognised as income or expense in the profit or loss on the date 
of disposal.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of each asset over its estimated useful life on a 
straight-line basis, after taking into account its estimated residual value, as follows:

  
Depreciable lives

primarily range from  
Buildings and improvements 8 to 30 years
Telecommunications network plant and equipment 6 to 10 years
Furniture, fixture, motor vehicles and other equipment 5 to 10 years  

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost 
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated 
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value are reviewed annually.

(h) Lease prepayments
Lease prepayments represent land use rights paid. Land use rights are initially carried at cost 
or deemed cost and then charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the respective 
periods of the rights which range from 20 years to 70 years.
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(i) Construction in progress
Construction in progress represents buildings, telecommunications network plant and 
equipment and other equipment and intangible assets under construction and pending 
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses (Note 3(n)). The cost of an item 
comprises direct costs of construction, capitalisation of interest charge, and foreign exchange 
differences on related borrowed funds to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest charges during the periods of construction. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the 
construction in progress is transferred to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
when the asset is substantially ready for its intended use.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress.

(j) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the net 
assets acquired in the CDMA business (as defined in Note 7) acquisition.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to 
cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment (Note 3(n)). On disposal of a cash 
generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of the goodwill is included in the 
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(k) Intangible assets
The Group’s intangible assets are computer software.

Computer software that is not an integral part of any tangible assets, is recorded at cost less 
subsequent accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (Note 3(n)). Amortisation of 
computer software is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, which 
mainly range from three to five years.

(l) Investments
Investments in available-for-sale equity securities are carried at fair value with any change in 
fair value being recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in 
equity. For investments in available-for-sale equity securities, a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of 
impairment. When these investments are derecognised or impaired, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 
Investments in unlisted equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are stated at cost less impairment 
losses (Note 3(n)).
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(m) Operating lease charges
Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the 
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal installments over the accounting periods covered 
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of 
benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit 
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are 
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(n) Impairment
(i) Impairment of accounts and other receivables and investments in equity 

securities carried at cost
Accounts and other receivables and investments in equity securities carried at cost are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that 
comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor or issuer;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; and

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 
that have an adverse effect on the debtor/issuer.

The impairment loss for accounts and other receivables is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate where the effect of discounting is 
material, and is recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

The impairment loss for investments in equity securities carried at cost is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset where the 
effect of discounting is material, and is recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

Impairment losses for accounts and other receivables are reversed through profit or loss if 
in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment losses decreases. Impairment losses 
for equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.
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(n) Impairment (continued)
(ii) Impairment of long-lived assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s long-lived assets, including property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets with finite useful lives and construction in progress are 
reviewed periodically to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
These assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For goodwill, the 
impairment testing is performed annually at each year end.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use. When an asset does not generate cash flows 
largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). In determining the value in use, expected future cash flows generated 
by the assets are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. The 
goodwill arising from a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is 
allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss. Impairment loss recognised in respect of cash-generating units 
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and 
then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a 
pro rata basis.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication 
that an impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years may no longer exist. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount. A subsequent increase in the recoverable amount 
of an asset, when the circumstances and events that led to the write-down cease to 
exist, is recognised as an income in profit or loss. The reversal is reduced by the amount 
that would have been recognised as depreciation and amortisation had the write-down 
not occurred. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For the years 
presented, no reversal of impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.
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(o) Revenue recognition
The revenue recognition methods of the Group are as follows:

(i) Revenue derived from local, domestic long distance and international, Hong Kong, Macau 
and Taiwan long distance usage are recognised as the services are provided.

(ii) Fees received for wireline installation charges for periods prior to 1 January 2012 are 
deferred and recognised over the expected customer relationship period. The direct 
costs associated with the installation of wireline services are deferred to the extent of 
the installation fees and amortised over the same expected customer relationship period. 
From 2012 onwards, since the amounts of fees received and the associated direct costs 
incurred are insignificant, the fees and associated direct costs are not deferred, and are 
recognised in profit or loss when received or incurred.

(iii) Monthly service fees are recognised in the month during which the services are provided 
to customers.

(iv) Revenue from sale of prepaid calling cards are recognised as the cards are used by 
customers.

(v) Revenue derived from value-added services is recognised when the services are provided 
to customers.

Revenue from value-added services in which no third party service providers are involved, 
such as caller display and Internet data center services, are presented on a gross basis. 
Revenues from all other value-added services are presented on either gross or net basis 
based on the assessment of each individual arrangement with third parties. The following 
factors indicate that the Group is acting as principal in the arrangements with third 
parties:

i) The Group is primarily responsible for providing the applications or services desired 
by customers, and takes responsibility for fulfillment of ordered applications or 
services, including the acceptability of the applications or services ordered or 
purchased by customers;

ii) The Group takes title of the inventory of the applications before they are ordered 
by customers;

iii) The Group has risks and rewards of ownership, such as risks of loss for collection 
from customers after applications or services are provided to customers;

iv) The Group has latitude in establishing selling prices with customers;

v) The Group can modify the applications or perform part of the services;
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(o) Revenue recognition (continued)
vi) The Group has discretion in selecting suppliers used to fulfill an order; and

vii) The Group determines the nature, type, characteristics, or specifications of the 
applications or services.

If majority of the indicators of risks and responsibilities exist in the arrangements with 
third parties, the Group is acting as a principal and have exposure to the significant risks 
and rewards associated with the rendering of services or the sale of applications, and 
revenues for these services are recognised on a gross basis. If majority of the indicators of 
risks and responsibilities do not exist in the arrangements with third parties, the Group is 
acting as an agent, and revenues for these services are recognised on a net basis.

(vi) Revenue from the provision of Internet and telecommunications network resource 
services are recognised when the services are provided to customers.

(vii) Interconnection fees from domestic and foreign telecommunications operators are 
recognised when the services are rendered as measured by the minutes of traffic 
processed.

(viii) Lease income from operating leases is recognised over the term of the lease.

(ix) Revenue derived from integrated information application services are recognised when 
the services are provided to customers.

(x) Sale of equipment is recognised on delivery of the equipment to customers and when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership and title have been transferred to the 
customers. Revenue from repair and maintenance of equipment is recognised when the 
service is provided to customers.

The Group offers promotional packages, which involve the bundled sales of terminal 
equipment (mobile handsets) and telecommunications services, to customers. The total contract 
consideration of a promotional package is allocated to revenues generated from the provision 
of telecommunications services and the sales of terminal equipment using the residual method. 
Under the residual method, the total contract consideration of the arrangement is allocated as 
follows: The undelivered component, which is the provision of telecommunications services, 
is measured at fair value, and the remainder of the contract consideration is allocated to the 
delivered component, which is the sales of terminal equipment. The Group recognises revenues 
generated from the delivery and sales of the terminal equipment when the title of the terminal 
equipment is passed to the customers whereas revenues generated from the provision of 
telecommunications services are recognised based upon the actual usage of such services. 
During each of the years in the two-year period ended 31 December 2015, a substantial 
portion of the total contract consideration is allocated to the provision of telecommunications 
services since the terminal equipment is typically provided free of charge or at a nominal 
amount to promote the Group’s core business of the provision of telecommunications 
services, and the fair value of the telecommunication services approximates the total contract 
consideration.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(p) Advertising and promotion expense
The costs for advertising and promoting the Group’s telecommunications services are expensed 
as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense, which is included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses, was RMB19,291 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 
(2014: RMB26,122 million), among which, the costs of terminal equipment offered as part 
of a promotional package to our customers for free or at a nominal amount to promote the 
Group’s telecommunication service amounted to RMB11,620 million for the year ended 31 
December 2015 (2014: RMB15,340 million).

(q) Net finance costs
Net finance costs comprise interest income on bank deposits, interest costs on borrowings, 
and foreign exchange gains and losses. Interest income from bank deposits is recognised as it 
accrues using the effective interest method.

Interest costs incurred in connection with borrowings are calculated using the effective interest 
method and are expensed as incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being 
directly attributable to the construction of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period 
of time to get ready for its intended use.

(r) Research and development expense
Research and development expenditure is expensed as incurred. For the year ended 31 
December 2015, research and development expense was RMB792 million (2014: RMB607 
million).

(s) Employee benefits
The Group’s contributions to defined contribution retirement plans administered by the PRC 
government and defined contribution retirement plans administered by independent external 
parties are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Further information is set out in Note 40.

Compensation expense in respect of the stock appreciation rights granted is accrued as a 
charge to the profit or loss over the applicable vesting period based on the fair value of the 
stock appreciation rights. The liability of the accrued compensation expense is re-measured to 
fair value at the end of each reporting period with the effect of changes in the fair value of the 
liability charged or credited to profit or loss. Further details of the Group’s stock appreciation 
rights scheme are set out in Note 41.

(t) Government grants
The Group’s government grants are mainly related to the government loans with below-market 
rate of interest.

Government grants shall only be recognised until there is reasonable assurance that:

(i) the Group will comply with all the conditions attaching to them; and

(ii) the grants will be received.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(t) Government grants (continued)
Government grants that compensate expenses incurred are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Government grants relating to assets are recognised in deferred revenue and are credited to 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the expected 
lives of the related assets.

(u) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised 
cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and the redemption value 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest, using 
the effective interest method.

(v) Accounts and other payables
Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at 
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are 
stated at cost.

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group 
has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Where the time value 
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to 
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount 
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence 
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are 
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 
remote.

(x) Value-added tax
Output VAT rate for basic telecommunications services (including voice communication, 
lease or sale of network resources) is 11% while the output VAT rate for value-added 
telecommunications services (including Internet access services, short and multimedia 
messaging services, transmission and application service of electronic data and information) 
is 6%, and the output VAT for sales of telecommunications terminals and equipment is 17%. 
Input VAT rate depends on the type of services received and the assets purchased as well as 
the VAT rate applicable to a specific industry, and ranges from 3% to 17%.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(x) Value-added tax (continued)
Output VAT is excluded from operating revenues while input VAT is excluded from operating 
expenses or the original cost of equipment purchased and can be netted against the output 
VAT, arriving at the net amount of VAT recoverable or payable. As the VAT obligations are 
borne by branches and subsidiaries of the Company, input and output VAT are set off at 
branches and subsidiaries levels, which are not offset at the consolidation level. Such net 
amount of VAT recoverable or payable is recorded in the line items of prepayments and 
other current assets and accrued expenses and other payables, respectively, on the face of 
consolidated statement of financial position.

(y) Income tax
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movement in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income, or directly in equity, in which case the relevant 
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. The amount of deferred tax is 
calculated on the basis of the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled. The effect on deferred 
tax of any changes in tax rates is charged or credited to profit or loss, except for the effect of 
a change in tax rate on the carrying amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities which were 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income, in such case the effect of a change in 
tax rate is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
income will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

(z) Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(aa) Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that 

person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) The entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the Group is a member); or the Group 
is an associate or joint venture of the entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the entity is a member);

(iii) The entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) The entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the Group is an associate of the 
third entity; or the Group is a joint venture of a third entity and the entity is an 
associate of the third entity;

(v) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(ab) Segmental reporting
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from 
which revenues are earned and expenses are incurred, and is identified on the basis of the 
internal financial reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in 
order to allocate resource and assess performance of the segment. For the periods presented, 
management has determined that the Group has one operating segment as the Group is only 
engaged in the integrated telecommunications business. The Group’s assets located outside 
mainland China and operating revenues derived from activities outside mainland China are less 
than 10% of the Group’s assets and operating revenues, respectively. No geographical area 
information has been presented as such amount is immaterial. No single external customer 
accounts for 10 percent or more of the Group’s operating revenues.

4. Application of Revised International Financial Reporting Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments to IFRS issued 
by the IASB that are mandatorily effective for the current year:

• Amendments to International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 19, “Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions”

• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle

The application of the above amendments to IFRSs has had no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Group has applied the amendments to IAS 27, “Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements” that are not yet mandatorily effective but allow early adoption for the current year.

The amendments allow an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in its separate financial statements:

• at cost;
• in accordance with IFRS 9 (or IAS 39 for entities that have not yet adopted IFRS 9); or
• using the equity method as described in IAS 28, “Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures”.
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4. Application of Revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
(continued)

The same accounting must be applied to each category of investments.

The amendments will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 with 
earlier application permitted.

As a result of the early adoption of the amendments to IAS 27, the Company has changed the 
accounting for investment in joint ventures and associates in its separate financial statements 
from using cost method to equity method as described in IAS 28 “Investment in Associates and 
Joint Ventures”, and has retrospectively adjusted the amounts reported for previous periods in the 
respective separate financial statements.

The following table summarises the retrospective adjustments that have been made in accordance 
with the early adoption of the amendments to IAS 27 to the Company’s separate financial 
statements:

   
The Company

31 December
2014

1 January
2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Increase on items of statement of financial position
Assets

Interests in associates 411 405
Equity

Retained earnings 411 405   

Except for the early adoption of the amendments to IAS 27, the Group has not yet applied any other 
new and revised standard that is not yet effective for the current year (Note 43).
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
     

Buildings and
improvements

Telecomm-
unications

network plant
and equipment

Furniture,
fixture,

motor vehicles
and other

equipment Total
RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions     

Cost/Deemed cost:
Balance at 1 January 2014 95,411 835,860 28,346 959,617     
Additions 726 1,254 703 2,683
Transferred from construction in progress 2,661 57,880 1,497 62,038
Disposals (642) (74,688) (1,670) (77,000)
Reclassification (2) 67 (65) –     
Balance at 31 December 2014 98,154 820,373 28,811 947,338     
Additions 509 883 733 2,125
Transferred from construction in progress 3,161 79,569 1,738 84,468
Tower Assets Disposal (Note 2) (3,646) (29,221) (121) (32,988)
Other disposals (732) (51,994) (1,894) (54,620)
Reclassification 13 (353) 340 –     
Balance at 31 December 2015 97,459 819,257 29,607 946,323     
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
Balance at 1 January 2014 (40,505) (524,863) (19,908) (585,276)     
Depreciation charge for the year (4,735) (55,687) (2,266) (62,688)
Written back on disposals 592 71,351 1,559 73,502
Reclassification 2 (7) 5 –     
Balance at 31 December 2014 (44,646) (509,206) (20,610) (574,462)     
Depreciation and impairment charge 

for the year (4,662) (56,862) (2,332) (63,856)
Written back on Tower Assets Disposal 

(Note 2) 1,520 13,051 52 14,623
Written back on other disposals 697 48,869 1,787 51,353
Reclassification (11) 133 (122) –     
Balance at 31 December 2015 (47,102) (504,015) (21,225) (572,342)     
Net book value at 31 December 2015 50,357 315,242 8,382 373,981     
Net book value at 31 December 2014 53,508 311,167 8,201 372,876     
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6. Construction in Progress
  

RMB millions  
Balance at 1 January 2014 44,157
Additions 74,585
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (62,038)
Transferred to intangible assets (3,523)  
Balance at 31 December 2014 53,181
Additions 107,762
Tower Assets Disposal (Note 2) (2,959)
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (84,468)
Transferred to intangible assets (4,413)  
Balance at 31 December 2015 69,103  
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7. Goodwill
   

2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions   

Cost:
Goodwill arising from acquisition of CDMA business 29,920 29,917   

On 1 October 2008, the Group acquired the CDMA mobile communication business and related assets 
and liabilities, which also included the entire equity interests of China Unicom (Macau) Company 
Limited (currently known as China Telecom (Macau) Company Limited) and 99.5% equity interests 
of Unicom Huasheng Telecommunications Technology Company Limited (currently known as Tianyi 
Telecom Terminals Company Limited) (collectively the “CDMA business”) from China Unicom Limited 
and China Unicom Corporation Limited (collectively “China Unicom”). The purchase price of the 
business combination was RMB43,800 million, which was fully settled as at 31 December 2010. In 
addition, pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the Group acquired the customer-related assets and 
assumed the customer-related liabilities of CDMA business for a net settlement amount of RMB3,471 
million due from China Unicom. This amount was subsequently settled by China Unicom in 2009. 
The business combination was accounted for using the purchase method.

The goodwill recognised in the business combination is attributable to the skills and technical talent 
of the acquired business’s workforce, and the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating 
and combining the CDMA mobile communication business into the Group’s telecommunications 
business.

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the goodwill arising from the acquisition of CDMA 
business was allocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit of the Group, which is the Group’s 
telecommunications business. The recoverable amount of the Group’s telecommunications business is 
estimated based on the value in use model, which considers the Group’s financial budgets covering 
a five-year period and a pre-tax discount rate of 9.7% (2014: 10.3%). Cash flows beyond the five-
year period are projected to perpetuity at annual growth rate of 1.5%. Management performed 
impairment tests for the goodwill at the end of the reporting period and determined that goodwill 
was not impaired. Management believes any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions 
on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause its recoverable amount to be less than 
carrying amount.

Key assumptions used for the value in use calculation model are the number of subscribers, average 
revenue per subscriber and gross margin. Management determined the number of subscribers, 
average revenue per subscriber and gross margin based on historical trends and financial information 
and operational data.
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8. Intangible Assets
  

Computer
software

RMB millions  
Cost:
Balance at 1 January 2014 18,091
Additions 378
Transferred from construction in progress 3,523
Disposals (239)  
Balance at 31 December 2014 21,753
Additions 511
Transferred from construction in progress 4,413
Disposals (376)  
Balance at 31 December 2015 26,301  
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
Balance at 1 January 2014 (10,046)
Amortisation charge for the year (2,923)
Written back on disposals 200  
Balance at 31 December 2014 (12,769)
Amortisation charge for the year (3,093)
Written back on disposals 300  
Balance at 31 December 2015 (15,562)  
Net book value at 31 December 2015 10,739  
Net book value at 31 December 2014 8,984  
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9. Investments in Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets and liabilities of 
the Group at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

      

Name of company
Type of 
legal entity

Date of 
incorporation

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Registered/
Issued capital

(in RMB millions
unless otherwise

stated) Principal activity      
China Telecom System 

Integration Co., Limited
Limited Company 13 September 2001 PRC 392 Provision of system integration 

and consulting services

China Telecom Global Limited Limited Company 25 February 2000 Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region 
of the PRC

HK$168 million Provision of international 
value-added network 
services

China Telecom (Americas) 
Corporation

Limited Company 22 November 2001 The United States of 
America

US$43 million Provision of 
telecommunications 
services

China Telecom Best Tone 
Information Service 
Co., Limited

Limited Company 15 August 2007 PRC 350 Provision of Best Tone 
information services

China Telecom (Macau) 
Company Limited

Limited Company 15 October 2004 Macau Special 
Administrative Region 
of the PRC

MOP60 million Provision of 
telecommunications 
services

Tianyi Telecom Terminals 
Company Limited

Limited Company 1 July 2005 PRC 500 Sales of telecommunications 
terminals

China Telecom (Singapore) 
Pte. Limited

Limited Company 5 October 2006 Singapore S$1 Provision of international 
value-added network 
services

E-surfing Pay Co., Ltd Limited Company 3 March 2011 PRC 300 Provision of e-commerce 
services

Shenzhen Shekou 
Telecommunications 
Company Limited

Limited Company 5 May 1984 PRC 91 Provision of 
telecommunications 
services

China Telecom (Australia) 
Pty Ltd

Limited Company 10 January 2011 Australia AUD1 million Provision of international 
value-added network 
services
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Name of company
Type of 
legal entity

Date of 
incorporation

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Registered/
Issued capital

(in RMB millions
unless otherwise

stated) Principal activity      
China Telecom Korea Co., Ltd Limited Company 16 May 2012 South Korea KRW500 million Provision of international 

value-added network 
services

China Telecom (Malaysia) 
SDN BHD

Limited Company 26 June 2012 Malaysia RM500,000 Provision of international 
value-added network 
services

China Telecom Information 
Technology (Vietnam) 
Co., Ltd

Limited Company 9 July 2012 Vietnam VND6,300 million Provision of international 
value-added network 
services

iMUSIC Culture & Technology 
Co., Ltd.

Limited Company 9 June 2013 PRC 250 Provision of music production 
and related information 
services

China Telecom (Europe) Limited Limited Company 2 March 2006 The United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland

GBP16.15 million Provision of international 
value-added network 
services

Zhejiang Yixin Technology 
Co., Ltd.

Limited Company 19 August 2013 PRC 11 Provision of instant messenger 
service

Chengdu E-store Technology 
Co., Ltd

Limited Company 17 June 2014 PRC 45 Provision of software 
technology

Except for Shenzhen Shekou Telecommunications Company Limited which is 51% owned by the 
Company and Zhejiang Yixin Technology Co., Ltd. which is 65% owned by the Company, all of the 
above subsidiaries are directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Company. No subsidiaries of the 
Group have material non-controlling interest.

10. Interests in Associates
   

2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions   

Unlisted equity investments, at cost 36,325 3,219
Share of post-acquisition changes in net assets (1,852) 887   

34,473 4,106   

9. Investments in Subsidiaries (continued)
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10. Interests in Associates (continued)

The Group’s interests in associates are accounted for under the equity method. Details of the 
Group’s principal associates are as follows:

   

Name of company
Attributable

equity interest Principal activities   
China Tower Corporation Limited 27.9% Construction, maintenance and 

operation of telecommunications 
towers as well as ancillary facilities

Shanghai Information Investment 
Incorporation

24.0% Provision of information technology 
consultancy services

The above associates are established in the PRC and are not traded on any stock exchange.

Summarised financial information of the Group’s principal associates and reconciled to the carrying 
amounts of interests in associates in the Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
below:

   
China Tower

Corporation Limited

2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions   

Current assets 38,586 9,676
Non-current assets 231,793 454
Current liabilities 47,717 244
Non-current liabilities 96,535 –

Operating revenues 10,325 –
Loss for the year (2,944) (114)
Other comprehensive income for the year – –
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,944) (114)

Dividend received from the associate – –

Reconciled to the Group’s interests in the associate
Net assets of the associate 126,127 9,886
Non-controlling interests of the associate – –
Group’s effective interest in the associate (Note 2) 27.9% 29.9%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate 35,189 2,956
Adjustment for the remaining balance of the deferred gain from 

the Tower Assets Disposal (Note 2) (1,939) –   
Carrying amount of the associate in the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group 33,250 2,956   
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10. Interests in Associates (continued)
   

Shanghai Information
Investment Incorporation

2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions   

Current assets 6,872 6,309
Non-current assets 7,943 7,773
Current liabilities 5,228 4,887
Non-current liabilities 3,716 3,680

Operating revenues 4,094 3,740
Profit for the year 342 236
Other comprehensive income for the year – –
Total comprehensive income for the year 342 236

Dividend received from the associate 9 10

Reconciled to the Group’s interests in the associate
Net assets of the associate 5,871 5,515
Non-controlling interests of the associate (1,850) (1,738)
Group’s effective interest in the associate 24.0% 24.0%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate 965 906   
Carrying amount of the associate in the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group 965 906   

11. Investments
   

2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions   

Available-for-sale equity securities 1,597 945
Other unlisted equity investments 27 27   

1,624 972   

Other unlisted equity investments mainly represent the Group’s various interests in PRC private 
enterprises which are mainly engaged in the provision of information technology services and 
Internet contents.
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12. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and the movements are as follows:

       
Assets Liabilities Net Balance

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions       

Provisions and impairment 
losses, primarily for doubtful 
debts 1,291 1,156 – – 1,291 1,156

Property, plant and equipment 3,174 1,788 (1,605) (773) 1,569 1,015
Deferred revenues and 

installation costs 190 288 (130) (189) 60 99
Available-for-sale equity 

securities – – (326) (163) (326) (163)       
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 4,655 3,232 (2,061) (1,125) 2,594 2,107       

    

Balance at
1 January

2015

Recognised in
consolidated
statement of

comprehensive
income

Balance at
31 December

2015
RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions    

Provisions and impairment losses, primarily for 
doubtful debts 1,156 135 1,291

Property, plant and equipment 1,015 554 1,569
Deferred revenues and installation costs 99 (39) 60
Available-for-sale equity securities (163) (163) (326)    
Net deferred tax assets 2,107 487 2,594    

    

Balance at
1 January

2014

Recognised in
consolidated
statement of

comprehensive
income

Balance at
31 December

2014
RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions    

Provisions and impairment losses, primarily for 
doubtful debts 1,071 85 1,156

Property, plant and equipment 1,247 (232) 1,015
Deferred revenues and installation costs 155 (56) 99
Available-for-sale equity securities (177) 14 (163)    
Net deferred tax assets 2,296 (189) 2,107    
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13. Inventories

Inventories represent:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Materials and supplies 1,236 789
Goods for resale 5,045 3,436   

6,281 4,225   

14. Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net, are analysed as follows:

    
2015 2014

Note RMB millions RMB millions    
Accounts receivable

Third parties 22,766 22,853
China Telecom Group (i) 492 329
Other telecommunications operators in the PRC 782 858    

24,040 24,040
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (2,935) (2,478)    

21,105 21,562    

Note:

(i) China Telecommunications Corporation together with its subsidiaries other than the Group are referred to as “China 

Telecom Group”.

The following table summarises the changes in allowance for doubtful debts:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
At beginning of year 2,478 2,198
Impairment losses for doubtful debts 2,172 2,075
Accounts receivable written off (1,715) (1,795)   
At end of year 2,935 2,478   
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14. Accounts Receivable, Net (continued)

Ageing analysis of accounts receivable from telephone and Internet subscribers based on the billing 
dates is as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Current, within 1 month 10,001 11,273
1 to 3 months 2,181 2,600
4 to 12 months 1,821 1,865
More than 12 months 731 660   

14,734 16,398
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (2,393) (2,355)   

12,341 14,043   

Ageing analysis of accounts receivable from other telecommunications operators and enterprise 
customers based on date of rendering of services is as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Current, within 1 month 3,648 3,012
1 to 3 months 1,618 1,679
4 to 12 months 2,199 1,924
More than 12 months 1,841 1,027   

9,306 7,642
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (542) (123)   

8,764 7,519   

Ageing analysis of accounts receivable that are not impaired is as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Not past due 19,263 19,408   
Less than 1 month past due 1,154 1,356
1 to 3 months past due 688 798   
Amounts past due 1,842 2,154   

21,105 21,562   
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15. Prepayments and Other Current Assets

Prepayments and other current assets represent:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Amounts due from China Telecom Group 732 818
Amounts due from China Tower 1,789 –
Amounts due from other telecommunications operators 

in the PRC 375 414
Prepayments in connection with construction work and 

equipment purchases 2,119 1,895
Prepaid expenses and deposits 3,622 3,398
Value-added tax recoverable 3,797 1,072
Other receivables 3,795 2,984   

16,229 10,581   

16. Cash and Cash Equivalents
   

2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions   

Cash at bank and in hand 30,916 18,660
Time deposits with original maturity within three months 953 1,776   

31,869 20,436   

17. Short-Term and Long-Term Debt and Payable

Short-term debt comprises:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Loans from banks – unsecured 5,361 5,399
Super short-term commercial papers – unsecured 33,995 18,997
Other loans – unsecured 182 182
Loans from China Telecom Group – unsecured 12,098 19,398   
Total short-term debt 51,636 43,976   

The weighted average interest rate of the Group’s total short-term debt as at 31 December 2015 
was 3.1% (2014: 5.1%) per annum. As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s loans from banks and 
other loans bear interest at rates ranging from 3.9% to 5.6% (2014: 4.5% to 11.0%) per annum, 
and are repayable within one year; as at 31 December 2015, super short-term commercial papers 
bear interest at rates ranging from 2.1% to 3.0% (2014: 5.3% to 5.6%) per annum and were fully 
repaid by March 2016; the loans from China Telecom Group bear interest at rates from 3.5% to 4.5% 
(2014: 4.5%) per annum and are repayable within one year.
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17. Short-Term and Long-Term Debt and Payable (continued)

Long-term debt and payable comprises:

    
Interest rates and 
final maturity 2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions    
Bank loans – unsecured
Renminbi denominated (Note (i)) Interest rates ranging from 

1.08% to 7.04% per 
annum with maturities 
through 2030

2,463 10

US Dollars denominated Interest rates ranging from 
1.00% to 8.30% per 
annum with maturities 
through 2060

470 491

Euro denominated Interest rate of 2.30% per 
annum with maturities 
through 2032

261 349

Other currencies denominated 9 15    
3,203 865

Other loans – unsecured
Renminbi denominated 1 1

Amount due to China 
Telecommunications 
Corporation – unsecured

Deferred consideration of Mobile 
Network Acquisition – Renminbi 
denominated (Note (ii))

61,710 61,710

    
Total long-term debt and payable 64,914 62,576

Less: Current portion (84) (82)    
Non-current portion 64,830 62,494    
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17. Short-Term and Long-Term Debt and Payable (continued)

Note:

(i) The Group obtained long-term RMB denominated government loans with below-market interest rate ranging from 1.08% 

to 1.20% per annum through banks, and recognised the loans at their fair value on initial recognition, and accreted the 

discount to profit or loss using the effective interest rate method. The difference between the fair value and face value of 

the loans was recognised as government grants in deferred revenue (Note 20).

(ii) Represents the remaining balance of the deferred consideration payable to China Telecommunications Corporation 

in respect of the acquisition of certain CDMA network assets and associated liabilities, which were held by China 

Telecommunications Corporation through network branches located in 30 provinces, municipalities and autonomous 

regions in the PRC (hereinafter referred to as the “Mobile Network Acquisition”). The Company may, from time to time, 

pay all or part of the deferred payment at any time after the completion date without penalty until the fifth anniversary 

of the completion date of the Mobile Network Acquisition. The Company pays interest on the deferred payment to China 

Telecommunications Corporation at half-yearly intervals and the interest accrues from the day following the completion of 

the Mobile Network Acquisition. The interest rate is set at a 5 basis points premium to the yield of the 5-year super AAA 

rated Medium Term Notes most recently published by the National Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors 

before the completion date of the Mobile Network Acquisition and will be adjusted once a year in accordance with the 

last yield of the 5-year super AAA rated Medium Term Notes most recently published by the National Association of 

Financial Market Institutional Investors at the end of each year. The interest rates for 2015 and 2016 are 5.11% and 4.00%, 

respectively.

If the amount is not paid when due, the Company is required to pay the liquidated damages on such amount at a daily 

rate of 0.03% of the amount in arrears from the day following the applicable due date to the date that such amount has 

actually been paid in full.

The aggregate maturities of the Group’s long-term debt and payable subsequent to 31 December 
2015 are as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Within 1 year 84 82
Between 1 to 2 years 61,832 82
Between 2 to 3 years 206 61,792
Between 3 to 4 years 206 71
Between 4 to 5 years 224 71
Thereafter 2,362 478   

64,914 62,576   

The Group’s short-term and long-term debt and payable do not contain any financial covenants. 
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had unutilised committed credit facilities amounting to 
RMB128,839 million (2014: RMB130,488 million).
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18. Accounts Payable

Accounts payable are analysed as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Third parties 95,305 71,934
China Telecom Group 18,702 15,667
China Tower 3,272 –
Other telecommunications operators in the PRC 776 857   

118,055 88,458   

Amounts due to China Telecom Group are payable in accordance with contractual terms which are 
similar to those terms offered by third parties.

Ageing analysis of accounts payable based on the due date is as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Due within 1 month or on demand 21,486 17,783
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 18,624 11,678
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 19,430 14,825
Due after 6 months 58,515 44,172   

118,055 88,458   

19. Accrued Expenses and Other Payables

Accrued expenses and other payables represent:

    
2015 2014

Note RMB millions RMB millions    
Amounts due to China Telecom Group 1,464 1,043
Amounts due to China Tower (i) 3,097 –
Amounts due to other telecommunications operators in 

the PRC 31 72
Accrued expenses 17,715 16,289
Value-added tax payable 1,112 953
Customer deposits and receipts in advance 59,514 54,014
Dividend payable 1 71    

82,934 72,442    

Note:

(i) The amounts due to China Tower as at 31 December 2015 includes the cash injection amounting to RMB2,966 million 
pursuant to the Transfer Agreement. The amount was paid in February 2016.
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20. Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenues mainly represent the unearned portion of installation fees for wireline services 
received from customers, the unused portion of calling cards, and the unamortised portion of 
government grants (Note 17).

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Balance at beginning of year 1,858 2,431
Additions for the year

– calling cards 600 547
– government grants 1,041 –   

1,641 547   
Reductions for the year

– amortisation of installation fees (416) (586)
– usage of calling cards (582) (534)
– amortisation of government grants (19) –   

Balance at end of year 2,482 1,858   
Representing:

– current portion 1,028 1,060
– non-current portion 1,454 798   

2,482 1,858   

Included in other assets are primarily capitalised direct costs associated with the installation of 
wireline services. As at 31 December 2015, the unamortised portion of these costs was RMB560 
million (2014: RMB818 million).

21. Share Capital
   

2015 2014
RMB millions RMB millions   

Registered, issued and fully paid
67,054,958,321 ordinary domestic shares of RMB1.00 each 67,055 67,055
13,877,410,000 overseas listed H shares of RMB1.00 each 13,877 13,877   

80,932 80,932   

All ordinary domestic shares and H shares rank pari passu in all material respects.
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22. Reserves

The Group

        
Capital
reserve

Share
premium

Statutory
reserves

Other
reserves

Exchange
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

RMB
millions

RMB
millions

RMB
millions

RMB
millions

RMB
millions

RMB
millions

RMB
millions

(Note (i)) (Note (iii)) (Note (ii))        
Balance as at 1 January 2014 17,064 10,746 67,392 427 (944) 102,124 196,809
Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – – (43) 3 17,680 17,640
Dividends (Note 33) – – – – – (6,198) (6,198)
Appropriations (Note (iii)) – – 1,680 – – (1,680) –        
Balance as at 31 December 2014 17,064 10,746 69,072 384 (941) 111,926 208,251
Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – – 492 129 20,054 20,675
Acquisition of non-controlling 

interests (1) – – – – – (1)
Contribution from non-controlling 

interests 87 – – – – – 87
Dividends (Note 33) – – – – – (6,160) (6,160)
Appropriations (Note (iii)) – – 1,901 – – (1,901) –        
Balance as at 31 December 2015 17,150 10,746 70,973 876 (812) 123,919 222,852        
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22. Reserves (continued)

The Company

      
Capital
reserve

Share
premium

Statutory
reserves

Retained
earnings Total

RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions
(Note (i)) (Note (iii))      

Balance as at 1 January 2014, 
as previously reported 29,148 10,746 67,392 84,341 191,627

Change in accounting policy (Note 4) – – – 405 405      
Balance as at 1 January 2014, as restated 29,148 10,746 67,392 84,746 192,032
Total comprehensive income for the year, 

as restated – – – 16,767 16,767
Appropriations (Note (iii)) – – 1,680 (1,680) –
Dividends (Note 33) – – – (6,198) (6,198)      
Balance as at 31 December 2014, 

as restated 29,148 10,746 69,072 93,635 202,601
Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 19,505 19,505
Appropriations (Note (iii)) – – 1,901 (1,901) –
Dividends (Note 33) – – – (6,160) (6,160)      
Balance as at 31 December 2015 29,148 10,746 70,973 105,079 215,946      
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22. Reserves (continued)

Note:

(i) Capital reserve of the Group mainly represents the sum of (a) the difference between the carrying amount of the 

Company’s net assets and the par value of the Company’s shares issued upon its formation; and (b) the difference 

between the consideration paid by the Group for the entities acquired, other than the Fifth Acquired Group, from China 

Telecommunications Corporation as described in Note 1, which were accounted for as equity transactions as disclosed 

in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, and the historical carrying amount of the net assets of these acquired 

entities.

The difference between the consideration paid by the Group and the historical carrying amount of the net assets of the 

Fifth Acquisition was recorded as a deduction of retained earnings.

Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the carrying amount of the Company’s net assets and 

the par value of the Company’s shares issued upon its formation.

(ii) Other reserves of the Group represent primarily the change in the fair value of available-for-sale equity securities and the 

deferred tax liabilities recognised due to the change in fair value of available-for-sale equity securities.

(iii) The statutory reserves consist of statutory surplus reserve and discretionary surplus reserve.

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company is required to transfer 10% of its net profit, as 

determined in accordance with the lower of the amount determined under the PRC Accounting Standards for Business 

Enterprises and the amount determined under IFRS, to the statutory surplus reserve until such reserve balance reaches 50% 

of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before distribution of any dividend to shareholders. For 

the year ended 31 December 2015, the net profit of the Company determined in accordance with the PRC Accounting 

Standards for Business Enterprises and IFRS are the same. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company 

transferred RMB1,901 million, being 10% of the year’s net profit, to this reserve. For the year ended 31 December 2014, 

the Company transferred RMB1,680 million, being 10% of the year’s net profit determined in accordance with the IFRS.

The Company did not transfer any discretionary surplus reserve for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The statutory and discretionary surplus reserves are non-distributable other than in liquidation and can be used to make 

good of previous years’ losses, if any, and may be utilised for business expansion or converted into share capital by issuing 

new shares to existing shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings or by increasing the par value of the shares 

currently held by them, provided that the remaining reserve balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the registered 

capital.

(iv) According to the Company’s Articles of Association, the amount of retained earnings available for distribution to 

shareholders of the Company is the lower of the amount of the Company’s retained earnings determined in accordance 

with the PRC Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and the amount determined in accordance with IFRS. As at 31 

December 2015, the amount of retained earnings available for distribution was RMB105,079 million (2014: RMB93,635 

million), being the amount determined in accordance with IFRS. Final dividend of approximately RMB6,461 million in 

respect of the financial year 2015 proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as a liability in 

the consolidated financial statements at the end of the reporting period (Note 33).
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23. Operating Revenues

Operating revenues represent revenues from the provision of telecommunications services. The 
components of the Group’s operating revenues are as follows:

    
2015 2014

Note RMB millions RMB millions    
Wireline voice (i) 29,610 33,587
Mobile voice (ii) 48,983 54,673
Internet (iii) 126,546 112,431
Value-added services (iv) 39,044 38,419
Integrated information application services (v) 27,299 26,939
Telecommunications network resource services and 

lease of network equipment (vi) 17,635 17,332
Others (vii) 42,085 41,013    

331,202 324,394    

Note:

Before 1 June 2014, most of the Group’s operating revenues were subject to business tax levied at rates of 3%, relevant business 

tax was set off against operating revenues. Pursuant to the Notice on Covering Telecommunications Industries under the VAT 

Reform (Caishui [2014] No. 43) jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation, from 1 June 

2014, the pilot programme of replacing business tax with VAT is extended to cover the telecommunications industry. VAT is 

excluded from operating revenues. With effect from 1 June 2014, the Group is no longer required to pay business tax of 3% on 

telecommunications services.

(i) Represent the aggregate amount of monthly fees, local usage fees, domestic long distance usage fees, international, Hong 

Kong, Macau and Taiwan long distance usage fees, interconnections fees and installation fees charged to customers for 

the provision of wireline telephony services.

(ii) Represent the aggregate amount of monthly fees, local usage fees, domestic long distance usage fees, international, Hong 

Kong, Macau and Taiwan long distance usage fees and interconnections fees charged to customers for the provision of 

mobile telephony services.

(iii) Represent amounts charged to customers for the provision of Internet access services.

(iv) Represent the aggregate amount of fees charged to customers for the provision of value-added services, which comprise 

primarily caller ID services, short messaging services, Colour Ring Tone, Internet data centre and Virtual Private Network 

services and etc.

(v) Represent primarily the aggregate amount of fees charged to customers for Best Tone information services and IT services 

and applications.

(vi) Represent primarily the aggregate amount of fees charged to customers for the provision of telecommunications network 

resource services and lease income from other domestic telecommunications operators and enterprise customers for the 

usage of the Group’s telecommunications networks and equipment.

(vii) Represent primarily revenue from sale, and repair and maintenance of equipment as well as the resale of mobile services 

(MVNO).
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24. Network Operations and Support Expenses

Included in the Group’s network operations and support expenses are as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Operating and maintenance 46,018 38,159
Utility 12,519 11,644
Property rental and management fee 14,117 9,224
Others 8,586 9,624   

81,240 68,651   

25. Personnel Expenses

Personnel expenses are attributable to the following functions:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Network operations and support 33,810 32,855
Selling, general and administrative 18,731 17,798   

52,541 50,653   

26. Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses consist of:

    
2015 2014

Note RMB millions RMB millions    
Interconnection charges (i) 12,329 12,483
Cost of goods sold (ii) 34,963 33,836
Donations 18 23
Others (iii) 1,533 1,176    

48,843 47,518    

Note:

(i) Interconnection charges represent amounts incurred for the use of other domestic and foreign telecommunications 

operators’ networks for delivery of voice and data traffic that originate from the Group’s telecommunications networks.

(ii) Cost of goods sold primarily represents cost of telecommunications equipment sold.

(iii) Others mainly include other surcharges related to VAT.
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27. Total Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 were RMB304,760 million (2014: 
RMB295,886 million) which include auditor’s remuneration in relation to audit and non-audit services 
(excluding value-added tax) of RMB65 million and RMB2 million respectively (2014: RMB62 million 
and RMB6 million).

28. Net Finance Costs

Net finance costs comprise:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Interest expense incurred 4,900 5,958
Less: Interest expense capitalised* (327) (308)   
Net interest expense 4,573 5,650
Interest income (375) (304)
Foreign exchange losses 154 21
Foreign exchange gains (79) (76)   

4,273 5,291   
* Interest expense was capitalised in construction in progress 

at the following rates per annum 3.5%–5.5% 4.5%–6.0%   

29. Income Tax

Income tax in the profit or loss comprises:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Provision for PRC income tax 7,127 5,237
Provision for income tax in other tax jurisdictions 74 58
Deferred taxation (650) 203   

6,551 5,498   
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29. Income Tax (continued)

A reconciliation of the expected tax expense with the actual tax expense is as follows:

    
2015 2014

Note RMB millions RMB millions    
Profit before taxation 26,693 23,257    
Expected income tax expense at statutory tax rate 

of 25% (i) 6,673 5,814
Differential tax rate on PRC subsidiaries’ and 

branches’ income (i) (400) (248)
Differential tax rate on other subsidiaries’ income (ii) (25) (31)
Non-deductible expenses (iii) 431 347
Non-taxable income (iv) (75) (243)
Others (v) (53) (141)    
Actual income tax expense 6,551 5,498    

Note:

(i) Except for certain subsidiaries and branches which are mainly taxed at a preferential rate of 15%, the provision for 

mainland China income tax is based on a statutory rate of 25% of the assessable income of the Company, its mainland 

China subsidiaries and branches as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations of the 

PRC.

(ii) Income tax provisions of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions of the PRC, 

and in other countries are based on the subsidiaries’ assessable income and income tax rates applicable in the respective 

tax jurisdictions which range from 12% to 38%.

(iii) Amounts represent miscellaneous expenses in excess of statutory deductible limits for tax purposes.

(iv) Amounts represent miscellaneous income which are not subject to income tax.

(v) Amounts primarily represent tax deduction on prior year research and development expenses, losses on disposal of 

property, plant and equipment approved by tax authorities and other tax benefits.
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30. Directors’ and Supervisors’ Remuneration

The following table sets out the remuneration of the Company’s Directors and Supervisors:

       

2015

Directors’/
supervisors’ 

fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
Share-based 

payments Total
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands       
Executive directors
Yang Jie – 160 426 84 – 670
Zhang Jiping – 143 385 80 – 608
Yang Xiaowei – 136 378 79 – 593
Sun Kangmin – 143 378 80 – 601
Ke Ruiwen – 136 378 75 – 589
Wang Xiaochu1 – 111 373 58 – 542
Chang Xiaobing2 – 53 53 27 – 133
Wu Andi3 – 34 284 24 – 342

Non-executive director
Zhu Wei – – – – – –

Independent non-executive 
directors

Tse Hau Yin 407 – – – – 407
Cha May Lung 203 – – – – 203
Xu Erming 200 – – – – 200
Wang Hsuehming 203 – – – – 203

Supervisors
Sui Yixun4 – 104 131 42 – 277
Tang Qi – 184 450 68 – 702
Zhang Jianbin – 166 438 68 – 672
Hu Jing – 98 338 63 – 499
Ye Zhong4 – – – – – –
Shao Chunbao5 – 23 22 12 – 57
Du Zuguo6 – – – – – –       

1,013 1,491 4,034 760 – 7,298       
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30. Directors’ and Supervisors’ Remuneration (continued)

1 Mr. Wang Xiaochu resigned as an executive director of the Company on 24 August 2015.

2 Mr. Chang Xiaobing was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 23 October 2015 and resigned as an 

executive director of the Company on 30 December 2015.

3 Madam Wu Andi retired as an executive director of the Company on 10 February 2015.

4 Mr. Sui Yixun and Mr. Ye Zhong was appointed as supervisors of the Company on 27 May 2015.

5 Mr. Shao Chunbao resigned as a supervisor of the Company on 18 February 2015.

6 Mr. Du Zuguo resigned as a supervisor of the Company on 12 March 2015.

7 The independent non-executive directors’ remuneration were for their services as directors of the Company.

8 The remuneration of all Directors and Supervisors were calculated based on their respective actual terms of office within 

this year.
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30. Directors’ and Supervisors’ Remuneration (continued)
       

2014

Directors’/
supervisors’ 

fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
Share-based 

payments Total
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands       
Executive directors
Wang Xiaochu – 340 479 93 – 912
Yang Jie – 340 479 92 – 911
Wu Andi – 296 431 87 – 814
Zhang Jiping – 296 423 89 – 808
Yang Xiaowei – 296 423 88 – 807
Sun Kangmin – 296 431 88 – 815
Ke Ruiwen – 296 423 77 – 796

Non-executive directors
Zhu Wei1 – – – – – –
Xie Liang1 – – – – – –

Independent non-executive 
directors

Tse Hau Yin 394 – – – – 394
Cha May Lung 197 – – – – 197
Xu Erming 200 – – – – 200
Wang Hsuehming2 114 – – – – 114
Qin Xiao2 82 – – – – 82
Wu Jichuan2 – – – – – –

Supervisors
Shao Chunbao – 296 416 70 – 782
Tang Qi – 199 466 68 – 733
Zhang Jianbin – 157 406 65 – 628
Hu Jing – 97 327 58 – 482
Du Zuguo – – – – – –

Independent supervisor
Zhu Lihao3 42 – – – – 42       

1,029 2,909 4,704 875 – 9,517       
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30. Directors’ and Supervisors’ Remuneration (continued)

1 Mr. Xie Liang retired as a Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 May 2014. Mr. Zhu Wei was appointed as a Non-

executive Director of the Company on 29 May 2014.

2 Mr. Qin Xiao and Mr. Wu Jichuan retired as Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company on 29 May 2014. 

Madam Wang Hsuehming was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 May 2014.

3 Madam Zhu Lihao retired as an independent supervisor of the Company on 29 May 2014.

4 The independent non-executive directors’ remuneration were for their services as directors of the Company.

5 The remuneration of all Directors and Supervisors were calculated based on their respective actual terms of office within 

this year.

31. Individuals With Highest Emoluments and Senior Management 
Remuneration

(a) Five highest paid individuals
None of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 
and 2014 were directors of the Company.

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five (2014: five) individuals (non-directors) 
are as follows:

   
2015 2014
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands   
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 6,042 7,869
Discretionary bonuses 9,087 2,532
Retirement scheme contributions 22 244   

15,151 10,645   
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31. Individuals With Highest Emoluments and Senior Management 
Remuneration (continued)

(a) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments of the five (2014: five) individuals (non-directors) with the highest emoluments 
are within the following bands:

   
2015 2014

Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals   

RMB0 – RMB1,000,000 – –
RMB1,000,001 – RMB1,500,000 – –
RMB1,500,001 – RMB2,000,000 2 2
RMB2,000,001 – RMB2,500,000 2 3
above RMB2,500,000 1 –   

None of these employees received any inducements or compensation for loss of office, or 
waived any emoluments during the periods presented.

(b) Senior management remuneration
The emoluments of the Group’s senior management are within the following bands:

   
2015 2014

Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals   

RMB0 – RMB1,000,000 22 23
RMB1,000,001 – RMB1,500,000 – –
RMB1,500,001 – RMB2,000,000 – –
RMB2,000,001 – RMB2,500,000 1 1   

32. Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of 
the Company includes a profit of RMB19,013 million which has been dealt with in the stand-alone 
financial statements of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of 
the Company includes a profit of RMB16,810 million which has been dealt with in the stand-alone 
financial statements of the Company. 
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33. Dividends

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the Board of Directors’ meeting on 23 March 2016, a final 
dividend of equivalent to HK$0.095 per share totaling approximately RMB6,461 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 was proposed for shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting. 
The dividend has not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2015.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2015, a final 
dividend of RMB0.076120 (equivalent to HK$0.095) per share totaling RMB6,160 million in respect 
of the year ended 31 December 2014 was declared and paid on 17 July 2015.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting held on 29 May 2014, a final 
dividend of RMB0.076583 (equivalent to HK$0.095) per share totaling RMB6,198 million in respect 
of the year ended 31 December 2013 was declared and paid on 18 July 2014.

34. Basic Earnings Per Share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is based 
on the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of RMB20,054 million and RMB17,680 
million respectively, divided by 80,932,368,321 shares.

The amount of diluted earnings per share is not presented as there were no dilutive potential 
ordinary shares in existence for the periods presented.
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35. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating lease commitments
The Group leases business premises and equipment through non-cancellable operating leases, and 
these operating leases do not contain provisions for contingent lease rentals. None of the rental 
agreements contain escalation provisions that may require higher future rental payments nor impose 
restrictions on dividends, additional debt and/or further leasing.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Within 1 year 3,452 2,635
Between 1 to 2 years 2,564 1,921
Between 2 to 3 years 2,006 1,389
Between 3 to 4 years 1,532 1,021
Between 4 to 5 years 1,171 678
Thereafter 3,723 1,495   
Total minimum lease payments 14,448 9,139   

Total rental expense in respect of operating leases charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 
December 2015 was RMB10,331 million (2014: RMB7,779 million).

Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had capital commitments as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Contracted for but not provided

– property 403 422
– telecommunications network plant and equipment 9,745 6,743   

10,148 7,165   

Contingent liabilities
(a) The Group was advised by their PRC lawyers that, no material contingent liabilities were assumed 

by the Group.

(b) As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group did not have contingent liabilities in respect 
of guarantees given to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to other parties, or other 
forms of contingent liabilities.
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35. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Legal contingencies
The Group is a defendant in certain lawsuits as well as the named party in other proceedings arising 
in the ordinary course of business. Management has assessed the likelihood of an unfavourable 
outcome of such contingencies, lawsuits or other proceedings and based on such assessment, 
believes that any resulting liabilities will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, 
operating results or cash flows of the Group.

36. Financial Instruments

Financial assets of the Group include cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits, investments, accounts 
receivable, prepayments and other receivables. Financial liabilities of the Group include short-term 
and long-term debt and payable, other non-current liabilities, accounts payable, accrued expenses 
and other payables. The Group does not hold nor issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

(a) Fair Value Measurements
Based on IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of each financial instrument is 
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value 
measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

• Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical financial instruments

• Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar financial 
instruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or 
indirectly based on observable market data

• Level 3: fair values measured using valuation techniques in which any significant input is 
not based on observable market data

The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments (other than long-term debt and payable, 
other non-current liabilities and available-for-sale equity investment securities) approximate 
their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.

The Group’s available-for-sale equity investment securities are categorised as level 1 financial 
instruments. As at 31 December 2015, the fair value of the Group’s available-for-sale equity 
investment securities are RMB1,597 million (2014: RMB945 million), respectively, based on 
quoted market price on PRC stock exchanges. The Group’s long-term investments, other 
than the available-for-sale equity investment securities, are unlisted equity interests for which 
no quoted market prices exist in the PRC and because their fair values cannot be measured 
reliably, so their fair values were not disclosed.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(a) Fair Value Measurements (continued)
The fair values of long-term debt and payable and other non-current liabilities are estimated by 
discounting future cash flows using current market interest rates offered to the Group for debt 
with substantially the same characteristics and maturities. The fair value measurement of long-
term debt and payable and other non-current liabilities is categorised as level 2. The interest 
rates used by the Group in estimating the fair values of long-term debt and payable and other 
non-current liabilities, having considered the foreign currency denomination of the debt, 
ranged from 1.0% to 4.9% (2014: 1.0% to 6.6%). As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the 
carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s long-term debt and payable and other non-
current liabilities were as follows:

      
2015 2014

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions      
Long-term debt and 

payable 64,914 65,156 62,576 62,686
Other non-current 

liabilities 455 419 424 357      

During the year, there were no transfers among instruments in level 1, level 2 or level 3.

(b) Risks
The Group’s financial instruments are exposed to three main types of risks, namely, credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk (which comprises of interest rate risk and foreign currency 
exchange rate risk). The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by 
the Board of Directors. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as 
policies covering specific areas, such as liquidity risk, credit risk, and market risk. The Board 
regularly reviews these policies and authorises changes if necessary based on operating and 
market conditions and other relevant risks. The following summarises the qualitative and 
quantitative disclosures for each of the three main types of risks:

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full 
when due. For the Group, this arises mainly from deposits it maintains at financial 
institutions and credit it provides to customers for the provision of telecommunications 
services. To limit exposure to credit risk relating to deposits, the Group primarily 
places cash deposits only with large state-owned financial institutions in the PRC with 
acceptable credit ratings. For accounts receivable, management performs ongoing credit 
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral 
on accounts receivable. Furthermore, the Group has a diversified base of customers with 
no single customer contributing more than 10% of revenues for the periods presented. 
Further details of the quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure on credit 
risk for accounts receivable are set out in Note 14.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Risks (continued)
(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they 
fall due, and results from timing and amount mismatches of cash inflow and outflow. 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances and adequate 
amount of committed banking facilities to meet its funding needs, including working 
capital, principal and interest payments on debts, dividend payments, capital expenditures 
and new investments for a set minimum period of between 3 to 6 months.

The following table sets out the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the 
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates 
or, if floating, based on prevailing rates at the end of the reporting period) and the 
earliest date the Group would be required to repay:

  
 2015       

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
1 year or 

on demand

More than 
1 year but 

less than 
2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions       
Short-term debt 51,636 51,967 51,967 – – –
Long-term debt and payable 64,914 71,295 2,597 64,345 768 3,585
Accounts payable 118,055 118,055 118,055 – – –
Accrued expenses and 

other payables 82,934 82,934 82,934 – – –
Finance lease obligations 119 134 48 43 43 –
Other non-current liabilities 455 455 – – 408 47       

318,113 324,840 255,601 64,388 1,219 3,632       
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Risks (continued)
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)

  
2014       

Carrying 

amount

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted

cash flow

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years

More than 

5 years

RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions RMB millions       

Short-term debt 43,976 44,133 44,133 – – –

Long-term debt and payable 62,576 72,093 3,243 3,243 65,107 500

Accounts payable 88,458 88,458 88,458 – – –

Accrued expenses and 
other payables 72,442 72,442 72,442 – – –

Other non-current liabilities 424 424 – – – 424       

267,876 277,550 208,276 3,243 65,107 924       

Management believes that the Group’s current cash on hand, expected cash flows from 
operations and available credit facilities from banks (Note 17) will be sufficient to meet 
the Group’s working capital requirements and repay its borrowings and obligations when 
they become due.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Risks (continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk exposure arises primarily from its short-term debt and long-
term debt and payable. Debts carrying interest at variable rates and at fixed rates expose 
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively. The 
Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk by closely monitoring the change in the 
market interest rate.

The following table sets out the interest rate profile of the Group’s debt at the end of the 
reporting period:

      
2015 2014

Effective 
interest rate

Effective 
interest rate

% RMB millions % RMB millions     
Fixed rate debt:
Short-term debt 3.0 50,806 5.0 43,156
Long-term debt 1.2 3,204 2.4 866  

54,010 44,022

Variable rate debt:
Short-term debt 4.8 830 5.6 820
Deferred consideration 

due to China 
Telecommunications 
Corporation (as defined 
in Note 17) 4.0 61,710 5.1 61,710  

62,540 62,530  
Total debt 116,550 106,552  
Fixed rate debt as a 

percentage of total debt 46.3% 41.3%     

As at 31 December 2015, it is estimated that an increase of 100 basis points in interest 
rate, with all other variables held constant, would decrease the Group’s net profit for the 
year and retained earnings by approximately RMB469 million (2014: RMB469 million).

The above sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the assumptions that the change of 
interest rate was applied to the Group’s debt in existence at the end of the reporting 
period with exposure to cash flow interest rate risk. The analysis is prepared on the same 
basis for 2014.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Risks (continued)
(iv) Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Foreign currency exchange rate risk arises on financial instruments that are denominated 
in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. The Group’s 
foreign currency risk exposure relates to bank deposits and borrowings denominated 
primarily in US dollars, Euros and Hong Kong dollars.

Management does not expect the appreciation or depreciation of the Renminbi against 
foreign currencies will materially affect the Group’s financial position and result of 
operations because 92.6% (2014: 93.1%) of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and 
99.4% (2014: 99.2%) of the Group’s short-term and long-term debt and payable as at 
31 December 2015 are denominated in Renminbi. Details of bank loans denominated in 
other currencies are set out in Note 17.

37. Capital Management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide investment returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level 
of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

Management regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between 
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the 
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital 
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Management monitors its capital structure on the basis of total debt-to-total assets ratio. For this 
purpose the Group defines total debt as the sum of short-term debt, long-term debt and payable, 
and finance lease obligations. As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s total debt-to-total assets ratio 
was 18.5% (2014: 19.0%), which is within the range of management’s expectation.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.
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38. Related Party Transactions

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group
The Group is a part of companies under China Telecommunications Corporation, a company 
owned by the PRC government, and has significant transactions and business relationships with 
members of China Telecom Group.

The principal transactions with China Telecom Group are as follows. These transactions 
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules and the Company has 
complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
Further details of these continuing connected transactions are disclosed under the paragraph 
“Connected Transactions” in the Report of Directors.

    
2015 2014

Note RMB millions RMB millions    
Purchases of telecommunications equipment and 

materials (i) 5,288 3,729
Sales of telecommunications equipment and 

materials (i) 2,855 3,089
Construction and engineering services (ii) 19,888 15,478
Provision of IT services (iii) 181 167
Receiving IT services (iii) 1,365 1,171
Receiving community services (iv) 2,860 2,885
Receiving ancillary services (v) 12,718 11,549
Property lease income (vi) 47 39
Property lease expenses (vi) 673 695
Net transaction amount of centralised services (vii) 486 246
Interconnection revenues (viii) 59 45
Interconnection charges (viii) 468 391
Internet applications channel services (ix) 368 366
Interest on amounts due to and loans from 

China Telecom Group* (x) 4,048 4,431
Lease of CDMA network facilities* (xi) 226 193
Lease of inter-provincial transmission optic fibres* (xii) 22 22
Lease of land use rights* (xiii) 13 15    

* These transactions are conducted on normal commercial terms and are fully exempted from compliance with the 

reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’ approval and/or annual review requirements either under 

Rules 14A.76 or 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
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38. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)
Note:

(i) Represent the amount of telecommunications equipment and materials purchased from/sold to China Telecom 

Group and commission paid and payable for procurement services provided by China Telecom Group.

(ii) Represent construction and engineering as well as design and supervisory services provided by China Telecom 

Group.

(iii) Represent IT services provided to and received from China Telecom Group.

(iv) Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group in respect of cultural, educational, health care and 

other community services.

(v) Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group in respect of ancillary services such as repairs and 

maintenance of telecommunications equipment and facilities and certain customer services.

(vi) Represent amounts of property lease fee received and receivable from/paid and payable to China Telecom Group 

for mutual leasing of properties.

(vii) Represent net amount shared between the Company and China Telecom Group for costs associated with 

centralised services. The amount represents amounts received or receivable for the net amount of centralised 

services.

(viii) Represent amounts received and receivable from/paid and payable to China Telecom Group for interconnection of 

local and domestic long distance calls.

(ix) Represent amounts received and receivable from China Telecom Group in respect of Internet applications channel 

services, including the provision of telecommunications channel and applications support platform and billing and 

deduction services, etc.

(x) Represent interest paid and payable to China Telecom Group with respect to the amounts due to China 

Telecommunications Corporation and loans from China Telecom Group (Note 17).

(xi) Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group primarily for lease of certain CDMA mobile 

telecommunications network (“CDMA network”) facilities located in Xizang Autonomous Region.

(xii) Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group for lease of certain inter-provincial transmission 

optic fibres within its service regions.

(xiii) Represent amounts paid and payable to China Telecom Group for leases of land use rights.
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38. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(a) Transactions with China Telecom Group (continued)
Amounts due from/to China Telecom Group are summarised as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Accounts receivable 492 329
Prepayments and other current assets 732 818   
Total amounts due from China Telecom Group 1,224 1,147   
Accounts payable 18,702 15,667
Accrued expenses and other payables 1,464 1,043
Short-term debt 12,098 19,398
Long-term debt and payable 61,710 61,710   
Total amounts due to China Telecom Group 93,974 97,818   

Amounts due from/to China Telecom Group, other than short-term debt and long-term debt 
and payable, bear no interest, are unsecured and are repayable in accordance with contractual 
terms which are similar to those terms offered by third parties. The terms and conditions 
associated with short-term debt and long-term debt and payable due to China Telecom Group 
are set out in Note 17.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, no material allowance for doubtful debts was recognised 
in respect of amounts due from China Telecom Group.

(b) Transactions with China Tower
The principal transactions with China Tower are as follows:

    
2015 2014

Note RMB millions RMB millions    
Tower Assets Disposal (Note 2) 30,131 –
Tower assets usage fee (i) 2,742 –    

Note:

(i) Represent amounts paid and payable to China Tower for the usage of telecommunications towers and related assets.
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38. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b) Transactions with China Tower (continued)
Amounts due from/to China Tower are summarised as follows:

   
2015 2014

RMB millions RMB millions   
Prepayments and other current assets 1,789 –   
Total amounts due from China Tower 1,789 –   
Accounts payable 3,272 –
Accrued expenses and other payables 3,097 –   
Total amounts due to China Tower 6,369 –   

Amounts due from/to China Tower bear no interest, are unsecured and are repayable in 
accordance with contractual terms which are similar to those terms offered by third parties.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, no material allowance for doubtful debts was recognised 
in respect of amounts due from China Tower.

(c) Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including directors 
and supervisors of the Group.

Key management personnel compensation of the Group is summarised as follows:

   
2015 2014
RMB 

thousands
RMB 

thousands   
Short-term employee benefits 9,859 11,598
Post-employment benefits 916 1,069   

10,775 12,667   

The above remuneration is included in personnel expenses.

(d) Contributions to post-employment benefit plans
The Group participates in various defined contribution post-employment benefit plans 
organised by municipal, autonomous regional and provincial governments for its employees. 
Further details of the Group’s post-employment benefit plans are disclosed in Note 40.
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38. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(e) Transactions with other government-related entities in the PRC
The Group is a government-related enterprise and operates in an economic regime currently 
dominated by entities directly or indirectly controlled by the People’s Republic of China through 
government authorities, agencies, affiliations and other organisations (collectively referred to as 
“government-related entities”).

Apart from transactions with parent company and its fellow subsidiaries (Note 38(a)), 
the Group has transactions that are collectively but not individually significant with other 
government-related entities, which include but not limited to the following:

– rendering and receiving services, including but not limited to telecommunications services

– sales and purchases of goods, properties and other assets

– lease of assets

– depositing and borrowing

– use of public utilities

These transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of the Group’s business on terms 
comparable to the terms of transactions with other entities that are not government-related. 
The Group prices its telecommunications services and products based on government-
regulated tariff rates, where applicable, or based on commercial negotiations. The Group has 
also established procurement policies and approval processes for purchases of products and 
services, which do not depend on whether the counterparties are government-related entities 
or not.

The directors of the Company believe the above information provides appropriate disclosure of 
related party transactions.
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39. Information About the Statement of Financial Position of the 
Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting 
period includes:

    
31 December 31 December

2015 2014
Note RMB millions RMB millions

(restated)    
ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net 371,555 370,796
Construction in progress 68,095 52,502
Lease prepayments 23,594 24,393
Goodwill 29,877 29,877
Intangible assets 9,861 8,456
Investments in subsidiaries 9 6,124 6,060
Interests in associates 4 34,316 3,965
Investments 1,624 971
Deferred tax assets 4,332 2,943
Other assets 3,231 3,881    

Total non-current assets 552,609 503,844
Current assets

Inventories 2,262 2,022
Income tax recoverable 2 1,339
Accounts receivable, net 20,425 20,309
Prepayments and other current assets 11,854 7,936
Short-term bank deposits 58 52
Cash and cash equivalents 22,043 9,616    

Total current assets 56,644 41,274    
Total assets 609,253 545,118    
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31 December 31 December

2015 2014
Note RMB millions RMB millions

(restated)    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Short-term debt 51,478 43,835
Current portion of long-term debt 84 82
Accounts payable 112,666 85,291
Accrued expenses and other payables 76,405 66,423
Income tax payable 2,000 190
Current portion of finance lease obligations 38 –
Current portion of deferred revenues 982 1,055    
Total current liabilities 243,653 196,876    

Net current liabilities (187,009) (155,602)    
Total assets less current liabilities 365,600 348,242    

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt and payable 64,814 62,494
Finance lease obligations 81 –
Deferred revenues 1,451 798
Deferred tax liabilities 1,923 996
Other non-current liabilities 453 421    

Total non-current liabilities 68,722 64,709    
Total liabilities 312,375 261,585    

Equity
Share capital 80,932 80,932
Reserves 22 215,946 202,601    

Total equity 296,878 283,533    
Total liabilities and equity 609,253 545,118    

39. Information About the Statement of Financial Position of the 
Company (continued)
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40. Post-Employment Benefits Plans

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates in various defined contribution 
retirement plans organised by municipal, autonomous regional and provincial governments for its 
employees. The Group is required to make contributions to the retirement plans at rates ranging 
from 14% to 21% of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of the employees. A member of 
the plan is entitled to a pension equal to a fixed proportion of the salary prevailing at the member’s 
retirement date. Other than the above, the Group also participates in supplementary defined 
contribution retirement plans managed by independent external parties whereby the Group is 
required to make contributions to the retirement plans at fixed rates of the employees’ salaries, 
bonuses and certain allowances. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of 
pension benefits associated with these plans beyond the annual contributions described above.

The Group’s contributions for the above plans for the year ended 31 December 2015 were 
RMB6,584 million (2014: RMB6,229 million).

The amount payable for contributions to the above defined contribution retirement plans as at 31 
December 2015 was RMB791 million (2014: RMB669 million)

41. Stock Appreciation Rights

The Group implemented a stock appreciation rights plan for members of its management to provide 
incentives to these employees. Under this plan, stock appreciation rights are granted in units with 
each unit representing one H share. No shares will be issued under the stock appreciation rights 
plan. Upon exercise of the stock appreciation rights, a recipient will receive, subject to any applicable 
withholding tax, a cash payment in RMB, translated from the Hong Kong dollar amount equal to the 
product of the number of stock appreciation rights exercised and the difference between the exercise 
price and market price of the Company’s H shares at the date of exercise based on the applicable 
exchange rate between RMB and Hong Kong dollar at the date of the exercise. The Company 
recognises compensation expense of the stock appreciation rights over the applicable vesting period.

In 2012, the Company approved the granting of 916.7 million stock appreciation right units to 
eligible employees. Under the terms of this grant, all stock appreciation rights had a contractual 
life of five years from date of grant and an exercise price of HK$4.76 per unit. A recipient of stock 
appreciation rights may exercise the rights in stages commencing November 2013. As at each of the 
third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the date of grant, the total number of stock appreciation rights 
exercisable may not in aggregate exceed 33.3%, 66.7% and 100%, respectively, of the total stock 
appreciation rights granted to such person.

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no stock appreciation right units were 
exercised. For the year ended 31 December 2015, compensation expense of RMB102 million was 
reversed by the Group in respect of stock appreciation rights as a result of decline in share price of 
the Company. For the year ended 31 December 2014, compensation expense of RMB130 million 
was recognised by the Group in respect of stock appreciation rights.
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41. Stock Appreciation Rights (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of the liability arising from stock appreciation 
rights was RMB152 million (2014: RMB254 million). As at 31 December 2015, 908 million stock 
appreciation right units vested but were not exercised, and 8.7 million stock appreciation right 
units were forfeited. The carrying amount of the corresponding liability was RMB152 million. As at 
31 December 2014, 609 million stock appreciation right units vested but were not exercised. The 
carrying amount of the corresponding liability was RMB183 million.

42. Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Group’s financial position and results of operations are sensitive to accounting methods, 
assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
Management bases the assumptions and estimates on historical experience and on other factors 
that the management believes to be reasonable and which form the basis for making judgements 
about matters that are not readily apparent from other sources. On an on-going basis, management 
evaluates its estimates. Actual results may differ from those estimates as facts, circumstances and 
conditions change.

The selection of significant accounting policies, the judgements and other uncertainties affecting 
application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in conditions and 
assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing the consolidated financial statements. The 
significant accounting policies are set forth in Note 3. Management believes the following significant 
accounting policies involve the most significant judgements and estimates used in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful debts
Management estimates an allowance for doubtful debts resulting from the inability of the customers 
to make the required payments. Management bases its estimates on the ageing of the accounts 
receivable balance, customer credit-worthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the financial 
condition of the customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs might be higher than expected and 
could significantly affect the results of future periods.
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42. Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued)

Impairment of long-lived assets
If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, the 
asset may be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss would be recognised in accordance 
with accounting policy for impairment of long-lived assets as described in Note 3(n). The carrying 
amounts of the Group’s long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets 
with finite useful lives and construction in progress are reviewed periodically to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. These assets are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
For goodwill, the impairment testing is performed annually at the end of each reporting period. 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and 
fair value less costs of disposal. When an asset does not generate cash flows largely independent 
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). In determining the value in 
use, expected future cash flows generated by the assets are discounted to their present value. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. It is difficult to precisely estimate fair value of the Group’s long-
lived assets because quoted market prices for such assets may not be readily available. In determining 
the value in use, expected future cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present 
value, which requires significant judgement relating to level of revenue, amount of operating costs 
and applicable discount rate. Management uses all readily available information in determining an 
amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including estimates based on 
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and amount of operating costs.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, provision for impairment losses of RMB51 million were made 
against the carrying value of long-lived assets (2014 Nil). In determining the recoverable amount 
of these equipment, significant judgments were required in estimating future cash flows, level of 
revenue, amount of operating costs and applicable discount rate.

Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact on the carrying value of the assets and 
could result in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.

Depreciation and amortisation
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are depreciated and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking into account their estimated residual 
value. Management reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of the assets annually in 
order to determine the amount of depreciation and amortisation expense to be recorded during any 
reporting period. The useful lives and residual values are based on the Group’s historical experience 
with similar assets and take into account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation and 
amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous 
estimates.
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43. Possible Impact of Amendments and New Standards Issued But Not 
Yet Effective for the Annual Accounting Period Ended 31 December 
2015

Up to the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued the following 
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective and not early adopted for the annual 
accounting period ended 31 December 2015:
  

Effective for 
accounting period 

beginning on or 
after  

Amendments to IFRS 11, “Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations”

1 January 2016

Amendments to IAS 1, “Disclosure Initiative” 1 January 2016
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, “Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 

Depreciation and Amortisation”
1 January 2016

Amendments to IFRSs, “Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle” 1 January 2016
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41, “Agriculture: Bearer Plants” 1 January 2016
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28, “Investment Entities: 

Applying the Consolidation Exception”
1 January 2016

IFRS 14, “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” 1 January 2016
Amendments to IAS 7, “Disclosure Initiative” 1 January 2017
Amendments to IAS 12, “Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 

Unrealised Losses”
1 January 2017

IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” 1 January 2018
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 1 January 2018
IFRS 16, “Leases” 1 January 2019
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, “Sale or Contribution of 

Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture”
A date to be 
determined  

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact that will result from adopting the 
amendments and new standards issued by the IASB which are not yet effective for the accounting 
period ended on 31 December 2015. Except for IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, 
and IFRS 16, “Leases”, so far the Group believes that the adoption of these amendments and 
new standards is unlikely to have a significant impact on its financial position and the results of 
operations.

44. Parent and Ultimate Holding Company

The parent and ultimate holding company of the Group as at 31 December 2015 is China 
Telecommunications Corporation, a state-owned enterprise established in the PRC.
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Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB      

Results of operation
Wireline voice 29,610 33,587 38,633 43,369 49,770
Mobile voice 48,983 54,673 58,217 49,166 38,628
Internet 126,546 112,431 99,394 87,662 74,994
Telecommunications network resource 

services and lease of network equipment 17,635 17,332 17,586 15,737 14,321
Value-added services, integrated information application 

services and others 108,428 106,371 107,754 87,242 67,338
Upfront connection fees – – – – 98      
Operating revenues 331,202 324,394 321,584 283,176 245,149
Depreciation and amortisation 67,664 66,345 69,083 49,666 51,241
Network operations and support 81,240 68,651 53,102 65,979 52,940
Selling, general and administrative 54,472 62,719 70,448 63,099 48,765
Personnel expenses 52,541 50,653 46,723 42,857 39,204
Other operating expenses 48,843 47,518 54,760 40,367 28,878      
Operating expenses 304,760 295,886 294,116 261,968 221,028

Operating profit 26,442 28,508 27,468 21,208 24,121
Gain from Tower Assets Disposal 5,214 – – – –
Net finance costs (4,273) (5,291) (5,153) (1,562) (2,254)
Investment income 8 6 670 93 40
Share of (losses)/profits of associates (698) 34 103 78 99      
Profit before taxation 26,693 23,257 23,088 19,817 22,006
Income tax (6,551) (5,498) (5,422) (4,753) (5,416)      
Profit for the year 20,142 17,759 17,666 15,064 16,590      
Other comprehensive income for the year
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of available-for-sale equity securities 652 (54) 414 (228) (205)
Deferred tax on change in fair value of available-for-sale 

equity securities (163) 14 (104) 57 51
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements of 

subsidiaries outside mainland China 129 3 (79) (2) (105)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 3 (3) 5 – –      
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 621 (40) 236 (173) (259)      
Total comprehensive income for the year 20,763 17,719 17,902 14,891 16,331      
Profit attributable to
Equity holders of the Company 20,054 17,680 17,545 14,949 16,494
Non-controlling interests 88 79 121 115 96      
Profit for the year 20,142 17,759 17,666 15,064 16,590      
Total comprehensive income attributable to
Equity holders of the Company 20,675 17,640 17,781 14,776 16,235
Non-controlling interests 88 79 121 115 96      
Total comprehensive income for the year 20,763 17,719 17,902 14,891 16,331      
Basic earnings per share 0.25 0.22 0.22 0.18 0.20      
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As at 31 December of the year

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB      

Financial condition
Property, plant and equipment, net 373,981 372,876 374,341 373,781 268,925
Construction in progress 69,103 53,181 44,157 32,500 18,475
Other non-current assets 108,369 75,674 71,958 73,635 72,218
Cash and bank deposits 34,388 21,815 18,357 32,829 29,279
Other current assets 43,720 37,728 34,426 32,546 30,434      
Total assets 629,561 561,274 543,239 545,291 419,331      
Current liabilities 255,929 206,325 200,098 193,610 127,397
Non-current liabilities 68,881 64,841 64,477 85,581 34,979      
Total liabilities 324,810 271,166 264,575 279,191 162,376      
Total equity attributable to equity holders 

of the Company 303,784 289,183 277,741 265,139 256,167
Non-controlling interests 967 925 923 961 788      
Total equity 304,751 290,108 278,664 266,100 256,955      
Total liabilities and equity 629,561 561,274 543,239 545,291 419,331      


